cisco.



FlexPod Datacenter for Microsoft SQL Server 2019 and VMware vSphere 6.7

Deployment Guide for FlexPod Hosting Microsoft SQL Server 2019 Databases Running on Windows Server 2019 Guest Virtual Machines on VMware ESXi 6.7 U3

Published: July 2020



In partnership with:



About the Cisco Validated Design Program

The Cisco Validated Design (CVD) program consists of systems and solutions designed, tested, and documented to facilitate faster, more reliable, and more predictable customer deployments. For more information, go to:

http://www.cisco.com/go/designzone.

ALL DESIGNS, SPECIFICATIONS, STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS (COLLECTIVELY, "DESIGNS") IN THIS MANUAL ARE PRESENTED "AS IS," WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND ITS SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE. IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THE DESIGNS, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

THE DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. USERS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF THE DESIGNS. THE DESIGNS DO NOT CONSTITUTE THE TECHNICAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVICE OF CISCO, ITS SUPPLIERS OR PARTNERS. USERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TECHNICAL ADVISORS BEFORE IMPLEMENTING THE DESIGNS. RESULTS MAY VARY DEPENDING ON FACTORS NOT TESTED BY CISCO.

CCDE, CCENT, Cisco Eos, Cisco Lumin, Cisco Nexus, Cisco StadiumVision, Cisco TelePresence, Cisco WebEx, the Cisco logo, DCE, and Welcome to the Human Network are trademarks; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn and Cisco Store are service marks; and Access Registrar, Aironet, AsyncOS, Bringing the Meeting To You, Catalyst, CCDA, CCDP, CCIE, CCIP, CCNA, CCNP, CCSP, CCVP, Cisco, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert logo, Cisco IOS, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS), Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers, Cisco UCS C-Series Rack Servers, Cisco UCS S-Series Storage Servers, Cisco UCS Manager, Cisco UCS Management Software, Cisco Unified Fabric, Cisco Application Centric Infrastructure, Cisco Nexus 9000 Series, Cisco Unity, Collaboration Without Limitation, EtherFast, EtherSwitch, Event Center, Fast Step, Follow Me Browsing, FormShare, GigaDrive, HomeLink, Internet Quotient, IOS, iPhone, iQuick Study, LightStream, Linksys, MediaTone, MeetingPlace, MeetingPlace Chime Sound, MGX, Networkers, Networking Academy, Network Registrar, PCNow, PIX, PowerPanels, ProConnect, ScriptShare, SenderBase, SMARTnet, Spectrum Expert, StackWise, The Fastest Way to Increase Your Internet Quotient, TransPath, WebEx, and the WebEx logo are registered trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and certain other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned in this document or website are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (0809R)

© 2020 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

© 2020 NetApp, Inc. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	6
Solution Overview	7
Introduction	7
Audience	7
Purpose of this Document	7
Highlights of this Solution	7
Technology Overview	9
SQL Server or Enterprise Database Requirements from Infrastructure	9
FlexPod System Overview	9
FlexPod Benefits	9
FlexPod: Cisco and NetApp Verified and Validated Architecture	
Integrated System	
Out-of-the-Box Infrastructure High Availability	11
FlexPod Design Principles	
Cisco Unified Computing System	
Cisco UCS Manager	
Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects	12
Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis	
Cisco UCS Fabric Extenders	
Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server	14
Cisco VIC Interface Cards	14
Cisco UCS Differentiators	
Cisco Nexus 9336C-FX2 Switches	
NetApp AFF A400 Storage	
A400 Specifications	17
NetApp ONTAP 9.7	
NetApp SnapCenter	
SnapCenter Architecture	
SnapCenter Features	
Microsoft SQL Server Database Storage Layout with SnapCenter	
Best Practices	23
VMware vSphere 6.7 U3	
Microsoft Windows Server 2019	
Microsoft SQL Server 2019	
Solution Design	
Configuration	
Cisco UCS Manager Configuration	
VNIC Templates	
VMQ Policy	

Adapter Policy	
BIOS Policy	35
NetApp Management Tools Setup and Configuration	36
Virtual Storage Console (VSC) 9.7	36
SnapCenter 4.3	36
Active IQ Unified Manager 9.7	38
NetApp Storage Configuration for Windows VMs on ESXi and SQL Databases	38
Create Storage Virtual Machine (SVM) for SQL Workload	38
Create Load-Sharing Mirrors of SVM Root Volume	38
Configure HTTPS Access	39
Storage for SQL Server Databases	40
Create FlexVol Volumes for SQL Database and Logs	40
Create SQL Database and Log LUNs	40
Create iSCSI LIFs	41
Create NFS LIFs	41
Add SVM Administrator	41
Create Storage Volumes for Windows Virtual Machines (ESXi Datastore)	42
Schedule Deduplication	42
Gather Necessary Information	42
VMware ESXi Host Configuration	43
Power Settings	43
ESXi Host Networking Configuration	44
Verifying ESXi Host NetQueue Feature	
ESXi Host Logical Network Diagram	49
Provision ESXi Datastore for Windows Virtual Machines from vCenter VSC Plug-in (Virtual Storage Console)	50
Creating and Deploying Virtual Machines for Hosting SQL Server Databases	54
Cores per Socket	54
Memory Reservation	54
Network Adapter Type	55
Installing Guest Operating System	56
Guest Power Settings	56
Adding Guest VM to the Domain	57
Storage Configuration Inside SQL Virtual Machines	57
Installing SQL Server and Configuration Recommendations	64
SnapCenter Configuration for SQL Database Backup, Restore, Cloning and Protection	67
Add Hosts (Windows VMs) to SnapCenter	67
Provision Storage to Windows VMs using SnapCenter	71
Create Resource Groups	74
Verify on Demand Backup of SQL Databases	85
Verify SQL Database Restore from Backup	86
Verify SQL Database Cloning from Backup	92

Solution Performance Testing and Validation	
Performance Test Methodology and Results	
Database Performance Scalability within Single Cisco UCS B200 M5 ESXi Host	
Database Performance Scalability Across the 4x Node ESXi Cluster	
Maximum IO Capacity Testing of NetApp AFF400 Storage Array	101
SQL Server Database Workload Monitoring with Cisco Workload Manager (CWOM)	102
CWOM Recommendations for Underutilized SQL Server Database Virtual Machines	105
CWOM Recommendations for Overutilized SQL Server Database Virtual Machines	106
Infrastructure Monitoring with Cisco Intersight	107
Summary	109
References	110
About the Authors	111
Acknowledgements	111



Executive Summary

Executive Summary

It is important that a datacenter solution embrace technology advancement in various areas, such as compute, network, and storage technologies to address rapidly changing requirements and challenges of IT organizations. The current industry trend in datacenter design is towards shared infrastructures. By using virtualization along with pre-validated IT platforms, enterprise customers have embarked on the journey to the cloud by moving away from application silos and toward shared infrastructure that can be quickly deployed, thereby increasing agility, and reducing costs. Cisco and NetApp have partnered to deliver FlexPod, which uses best of breed storage, server, and network components to serve as the foundation for a variety of workloads, enabling efficient architectural designs that can be quickly and confidently deployed.

This document describes a FlexPod reference architecture using the latest hardware and software products and provides deployment recommendations for hosting Microsoft SQL Server 2019 databases in VMware ESXi virtualized environments. This solution also uses Cisco Workload Optimization Manager (CWOM) which provides automated recommendations for optimal and efficient resource utilization both for SQL workloads and infrastructure.

The solution is built on Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS) using the unified software release 4.1.1c to support the Cisco UCS hardware platforms including Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers, Cisco UCS 6400 Fabric Interconnects, Cisco Nexus 9000 Series Switches, and NetApp AFF Series Storage Arrays.

Solution Overview

Introduction

The current IT industry is witnessing vast transformations in the datacenter solutions. In the recent years, there is a considerable interest towards pre-validated and engineered datacenter solutions. Introduction of virtualization technology in the key areas has impacted the design principles and architectures of these solutions in a big way. It has opened the doors for many applications running on bare metal systems to migrate to these new virtualized integrated solutions.

FlexPod System is one such pre-validated and engineered datacenter solution designed to address rapidly changing needs of IT organizations. Cisco and NetApp have partnered to deliver FlexPod, which uses best of breed compute, network and storage components to serve as the foundation for a variety of enterprise workloads including databases, ERP, CRM and Web applications, and so on.

The consolidation of IT applications, particularly databases, has generated considerable interest in the recent years. Being most widely adopted and deployed database platform over several years, Microsoft SQL Server databases have become the victim of a popularly known IT challenge "Database Sprawl." Some of the challenges of SQL Server sprawl include underutilized Servers, wrong licensing, security concerns, management concerns, huge operational costs etc. Hence SQL Server databases would be right candidate for migrating and consolidating on to a more robust, flexible and resilient platform. This document discusses a FlexPod reference architecture for deploying and consolidating SQL Server databases.

Audience

The audience for this document includes, but is not limited to; sales engineers, field consultants, database administrators, professional services, IT managers, partner engineers, and customers who want to take advantage of an infrastructure built to deliver IT efficiency and enable IT innovation. It is expected that the reader should have prior knowledge on FlexPod Systems and its components.

Purpose of this Document

This document describes a FlexPod reference architecture and step-by-step implementation guidelines for deploying Microsoft SQL Server 2019 databases on FlexPod system.



The step-by-step process to deploy and configure the FlexPod system is not in the scope of this document. For detailed instruction for deploying FlexPod Systems, refer to: <u>FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp</u> ONTAP 9.7, Cisco Intersight, and VMware vSphere 6.7 U3 CVD.

Highlights of this Solution

The following software and hardware products distinguish the reference architecture from previous releases:

- Microsoft SQL Server 2019 deployment on Windows Server 2019 Guest VMs running on VMWare vSphere
 6.7 U3 Cluster.
- Support for the Cisco UCS 4.1(1) unified software release and Cisco UCS B200-M5 with 2nd Generation Intel Xeon Scalable Processors, and Cisco 1400 Series Virtual Interface Cards (VICs).
- Support for the latest Cisco UCS 6454 Fabric Interconnects and Cisco UCS 2408 Fabric Extender
- 100 Gigabit per second Ethernet Connectivity.

- NetApp All Flash A400 storage with Data ONTAP 9.7 and NetApp SnapCenter 4.3 for virtual machine and SQL Database backup and recovery.
- NetApp Virtual Storage Console Plug-in (VSC 9.7) for datastores storage provisioning to ESXi hosts.
- NetApp SnapCenter 4.3 for Virtual Machine backup and recovery.
- NetApp SnapCenter 4.3 for SQL Database Backup, Recovery, Protection and Cloning.
- NetApp SnapCenter 4.3 for storage provisioning to Windows VM for SQL Database and Log files.
- In-Guest software iSCSI storage connectivity for SQL Server database volumes.
- Cisco Intersight Software as a Service (SaaS) for UCS infrastructure monitoring.
- Cisco Workload Optimization Manager (CWOM) for monitoring SQL Server resource utilization and cost optimizations.

Technology Overview

SQL Server or Enterprise Database Requirements from Infrastructure

This section details the key requirements for an enterprise database workload for your infrastructure. The following sections describe how each component used in the FlexPod infrastructure meets and exceeds the requirements of storing and running the enterprise workload and data.

Some of the key requirements are as follows:

- Highly available infrastructure: Infrastructure should be able to sustain failure of any Hardware or Software component.
- Accessibility and Predictable Performance: Infrastructure should allow access to workload data to set and meet variable level of performance Quality of Service.
- Scalability and Migration: As performance and capacity requirement of the database workload changes, ability to scale or migrate to optimal compute and storage tier within the infrastructure is very important.
- Storage Efficiency: Amount of data never goes down, and growth of duplicate data and multiple backups is fast. So, infrastructure capable of requiring less physical storage than actual data is critical in reducing TCO.
- Easy and Efficient Data Lifecycle Management: Data requires regular backups, quick restore, fast cloning, protection for disaster recovery, and archival. Infrastructure along with provided management tools, should be capable of handling these activities without extensive training, manual intervention, downtime, or extended maintenance duration.
- Security: Infrastructure should be capable of hosting workload for multiple tenants (business organizations), with appropriate access control, and encryption of data.

FlexPod System Overview

FlexPod is a best practice datacenter infrastructure architecture that includes these components:

- Cisco Unified Computing System
- Cisco Nexus Switches
- NetApp FAS or AFF storage, NetApp E-Series storage systems

These components are connected and configured according to the best practices of Cisco and NetApp and provide the ideal platform for running multiple enterprise workloads with confidence. The reference architecture explained in this document leverages the Cisco Nexus 9000 series switch. One of the key benefits of FlexPod is the ability to maintain consistency at scaling, including scale-up and scale-out. Each of the component families shown in Figure 7 (Cisco Unified Computing System, Cisco Nexus, and NetApp storage systems) offers platform and resource options to scale the infrastructure up or down, while supporting the same features and functionality that are required under the configuration and connectivity best practices of FlexPod.

FlexPod Benefits

As customers transition toward shared infrastructure or cloud computing, they face several challenges such as initial transition hiccups, return on investment (ROI) analysis, infrastructure management and future growth plans. By introducing standardization, FlexPod helps customers mitigate the risk and uncertainty involved in planning,

designing, and implementing a new datacenter infrastructure. The result is a more predictive and adaptable architecture capable of meeting and exceeding customers' IT demands.

The following list provides the unique features and benefits that the FlexPod system provides for consolidating SQL Server database deployments:

- Support for Intel Xeon 2nd generation scalable family CPUs, Cisco UCS B200 M5 blades enables consolidating more SQL Server virtual machines and thereby achieving higher consolidation ratios reducing Total Cost of Ownership and achieving quick ROIs.
- 100 Gigabit Ethernet connectivity and storage connectivity using Cisco UCS 4th generation Fabric Interconnects, Cisco Nexus 9000 series switches, and NetApp AFF A400 storage Arrays.
- Nondisruptive policy-based management of infrastructure using Cisco UCS Manager.
- Fast IO performance using NetApp All Flash Storage Arrays and Complete virtual machine protection by using NetApp Snapshot technology and direct storage access to SQL virtual machines using in-guest iSCSI Initiator.
- Resource utilization reports and cost optimization recommendations with Cisco Workload Optimization manager.

FlexPod: Cisco and NetApp Verified and Validated Architecture

Cisco and NetApp have thoroughly validated and verified the FlexPod solution architecture and its many use cases while creating a portfolio of detailed documentation, information, and references to assist customers in transforming their datacenters to this shared infrastructure model. This portfolio includes, but is not limited to the following items:

- Best practice architectural design
- Workload sizing and scaling guidance
- Implementation and deployment instructions
- Technical specifications (rules for FlexPod configuration do's and don'ts)
- Frequently asked questions (FAQs)
- Cisco Validated Designs and NetApp Verified Architectures (NVAs) focused on several use cases

Cisco and NetApp have also built a robust and experienced support team focused on FlexPod solutions, from customer accounts and technical sales representatives, to professional services and technical support engineers. The cooperative support program extended by Cisco and NetApp provides customers and channel service partners with direct access to technical experts who collaborate with cross vendors and have access to shared lab resources to resolve potential issues. FlexPod supports tight integration with virtualized cloud infrastructures, making it a logical choice for a long-term investment. The following IT initiatives are addressed by the FlexPod solution.

Integrated System

FlexPod is a pre-validated infrastructure that brings together compute, storage, and network to simplify, accelerate, and minimize the risk associated with datacenter builds and application rollouts. These integrated systems provide a standardized approach in the datacenter that facilitates staff expertise, application onboarding, and automation as well as operational efficiencies relating to compliance and certification.

Out-of-the-Box Infrastructure High Availability

FlexPod is a highly available and scalable infrastructure that IT can evolve over time to support multiple physical and virtual application workloads. FlexPod has no single point of failure at any level, from the server through the network, to storage. The fabric is fully redundant and scalable, and provides seamless traffic failover, should any individual component fail at the physical or virtual layer.

FlexPod Design Principles

FlexPod addresses four primary design principles:

- Application availability: Makes sure that services are accessible and ready to use
- Scalability: Addresses increasing demands with appropriate resources
- Flexibility: Provides new services or recovers resources without requiring infrastructure modifications
- Manageability: Facilitates efficient infrastructure operations through open standards and APIs

The following sections provide a brief introduction of the various hardware and software components used in this solution.

Cisco Unified Computing System

Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS) is a next-generation solution for blade and rack server computing. The system integrates a low-latency; lossless 10,25,40 or100 Gigabit Ethernet unified network fabric with enterprise-class, x86-architecture servers. The system is an integrated, scalable, multi-chassis platform in which all resources participate in a unified management domain. Cisco Unified Computing System accelerates the delivery of new services simply, reliably, and securely through end-to-end provisioning and migration support for both virtualized and non-virtualized systems. Cisco Unified Computing System provides:

- Comprehensive Management
- Radical Simplification
- High Performance

Cisco Unified Computing System consists of the following components:

- Compute The system is based on an entirely new class of computing system that incorporates rack mount and blade servers based on Intel Xeon scalable processors product family.
- Network The system is integrated onto a low-latency, lossless, 10/25/40/100-Gbps unified network fabric. This network foundation consolidates Local Area Networks (LANs), Storage Area Networks (SANs), and high-performance computing networks, which are separate networks today. The unified fabric lowers costs by reducing the number of network adapters, switches, and cables, and by decreasing the power and cooling requirements.
- Virtualization The system unleashes the full potential of virtualization by enhancing the scalability, performance, and operational control of virtual environments. Cisco security, policy enforcement, and diagnostic features are now extended into virtualized environments to better support changing business and IT requirements.
- Storage access The system provides consolidated access to both SAN storage and Network Attached Storage (NAS) over the unified fabric. It is also an ideal system for Software defined Storage (SDS).
 Combining the benefits of single framework to manage both the compute and Storage servers in a single pane, Quality of Service (QOS) can be implemented if needed to inject IO throttling in the system. In

addition, the server administrators can pre-assign storage-access policies to storage resources, for simplified storage connectivity and management leading to increased productivity. In addition to external storage, both rack and blade servers have internal storage which can be accessed through built-in hardware RAID controllers. With storage profile and disk configuration policy configured in Cisco UCS Manager, storage needs for the host OS and application data gets fulfilled by user defined RAID groups for high availability and better performance.

• Management - the system uniquely integrates all system components to enable the entire solution to be managed as a single entity by Cisco UCS Manager. Cisco UCS Manager has an intuitive GUI, a CLI, and a powerful scripting library module for Microsoft PowerShell built on a robust API to manage all system configuration and operations.

Cisco Unified Computing System fuses access layer networking and servers. This high-performance, next-generation server system provides a data center with a high degree of workload agility and scalability.

Cisco UCS Manager

Cisco UCS Manager (UCSM) provides unified, embedded management for all software and hardware components in the Cisco UCS. Using Single Connect technology, it manages, controls, and administers multiple chassis for thousands of virtual machines. Administrators use the software to manage the entire Cisco Unified Computing System as a single logical entity through an intuitive GUI, CLI, or an XML API. Cisco UCS Manager resides on a pair of Cisco UCS 6300 Series Fabric Interconnects using a clustered, active-standby configuration for high availability.

Cisco UCS Manager offers unified embedded management interface that integrates server, network, and storage. Cisco UCS Manager performs auto-discovery to detect inventory, manage, and provision system components that are added or changed. It offers comprehensive set of XML API for third part integration, exposes 9000 points of integration and facilitates custom development for automation, orchestration, and to achieve new levels of system visibility and control.

Service profiles benefit both virtualized and non-virtualized environments and increase the mobility of nonvirtualized servers, such as when moving workloads from server to server or taking a server offline for service or upgrade. Profiles can also be used in conjunction with virtualization clusters to bring new resources online easily, complementing existing virtual machine mobility.

For more information about Cisco UCS Manager, go to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/servers-unified-computing/ucs-manager/index.html</u>

Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects

The Fabric interconnects provide a single point for connectivity and management for the entire system. Typically deployed as an active-active pair, the system's fabric interconnects integrate all components into a single, highly-available management domain controlled by Cisco UCS Manager. The fabric interconnects manage all I/O efficiently and securely at a single point, resulting in deterministic I/O latency regardless of a server or virtual machine's topological location in the system.

Cisco UCS 6400 series product family supports low-latency, lossless 10/25/40/100 Gigabit Ethernet unified network fabric capabilities, which increase the reliability, efficiency, and scalability of Ethernet networks. The fabric interconnect supports multiple traffic classes over a lossless Ethernet fabric from the server through the fabric cards (NICs), Host Bus Adapters (HBAs), cables, and switches can be consolidated. The Cisco UCS 6454 is a 1-RU Fabric Interconnect that features 10/25/40/100 Gigabit Ethernet, FCoE, and Fibre Channel switch offering up to 3.82 Tbps throughput and up to 54 ports. The switch has 28 10/25-Gbps Ethernet ports, 4 1/10/25-Gbps Ethernet ports, 6 40/100-Gbps Ethernet uplink ports, and 16 unified ports that can support 10/25-Gbps Ethernet ports or 8/16/32-Gbps Fibre Channel ports. All Ethernet ports are capable of supporting FCoE.

Figure 1 Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect 6454 Front view



For more information, go to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/servers-unified-</u>computing/datasheet-c78-741116.html

Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis

The Cisco UCS 5100 Series Blade Server Chassis is a crucial building block of the Cisco Unified Computing System, delivering a scalable and flexible blade server chassis. The Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis is six rack units (6RU) high and can mount in an industry-standard 19-inch rack. A single chassis can house up to eight half-width Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers and can accommodate both half-width and full-width blade form factors. Four single-phase, hot-swappable power supplies are accessible from the front of the chassis. These power supplies are 92 percent efficient and can be configured to support non-redundant, N+ 1 redundant and grid-redundant configurations. The rear of the chassis contains eight hot-swappable fans, four power connectors (one per power supply), and two I/O bays for Cisco UCS 2408 Fabric Extenders. A passive mid-plane provides connectivity between blade serves and fabric interconnects.

For more information, go to: <u>http://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/servers-unified-computing/ucs-5100-</u> series-blade-server-chassis/index.html

Cisco UCS Fabric Extenders

The Cisco UCS 2408 Fabric Extender brings the unified fabric into the blade server enclosure, providing connectivity between the blade servers and the fabric interconnect, simplifying diagnostics, cabling, and management. It is a fourth-generation I/O Module (IOM) that shares the same form factor as the third-generation Cisco UCS 2304 Fabric Extender, which is compatible with the Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis.

The Cisco UCS 2408 connects the I/O fabric between the Cisco UCS 6454 Fabric Interconnect and the Cisco UCS 5100 Series Blade Server Chassis, enabling a lossless and deterministic converged fabric to connect all blades and chassis together. Because the fabric extender is similar to a distributed line card, it does not perform any switching and is managed as an extension of the fabric interconnects. This approach removes switching from the chassis, reducing overall infrastructure complexity and enabling Cisco UCS to scale to many chassis without multiplying the number of switches needed, reducing TCO, and allowing all chassis to be managed as a single, highly available management domain.

The Cisco UCS 2408 Fabric Extender has eight 25-Gigabit Ethernet, FCoE-capable, Small Form-Factor Pluggable (SFP28) ports that connect the blade chassis to the fabric interconnect. Each Cisco UCS 2408 provides 10-Gigabit Ethernet ports connected through the midplane to each half-width slot in the chassis, providing a total of 32 10G interfaces to Cisco UCS blade servers. Typically configured in pairs for redundancy, two fabric extenders provide up to 400 Gbps of I/O from Cisco UCS FI 6400 series to Cisco UCS 5108 chassis.



For more information, go to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/servers-unified-computing/datasheet-c78-742624.html</u>

Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server

The Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server delivers performance, flexibility, and optimization for deployments in data centers, in the cloud, and at remote sites. This enterprise-class server offers market-leading performance, versatility, and density without compromise for workloads including Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI), web infrastructure, distributed databases, converged infrastructure, and enterprise applications such as Oracle and SAP HANA. The Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server can quickly deploy stateless physical and virtual workloads through programmable, easy-to-use Cisco UCS Manager Software and simplified server access through Cisco SingleConnect technology. The Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server is a half-width blade with up to eight servers and can reside in the 6-Rack-Unit (6RU) Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis, offering one of the highest densities of servers per rack unit of blade chassis in the industry. You can configure the Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server provides these main features:

- Up to two Intel Xeon 2nd generation Scalable CPUs with up to 28 cores per CPU.
- Up to 24 DDR4 DIMMs at 2933 MHz for improved performance and 12 DIMM slots can be repurposed for Intel Optane[™] DC Persistent Memory. Support up to 3 TB of total memory when using 128-GB DIMMs.
- Modular LAN On Motherboard (mLOM) card with Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card (VIC) 1440, a single-port 40-Gbps or 4x10-Gbps Gigabit Ethernet, Fibre Channel over Ethernet (FCoE)-capable mLOM mezzanine adapter.
- Optional rear mezzanine VIC with a single-port 40-Gbps or 4x10-Gbps unified I/O ports.
- Two optional, hot-pluggable, Hard-Disk Drives (HDDs), Solid-State Disks (SSDs), or NVMe 2.5-inch drives with a choice of enterprise-class RAID or pass-through controllers.



Figure 3 Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server

For more information, go to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/servers-unified-computing/ucs-</u>b-series-blade-servers/datasheet-c78-739296.html

Cisco VIC Interface Cards

Cisco UCS VIC1440 is a single-port 40-Gbps or 4x10-Gbps Ethernet/FCoE capable modular LAN On Motherboard (mLOM) designed exclusively for the M5 generation of Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers. When used in combination with an optional port expander, the Cisco UCS VIC 1440 capabilities are enabled for two ports of 40-Gbps Ethernet. The Cisco UCS VIC 1440 enables a policy-based, stateless, agile server infrastructure that can present to the host PCIe standards-compliant interfaces that can be dynamically configured as either NICs or HBAs.

For more information, go to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/interfaces-modules/unified-computing-system-adapters/datasheet-c78-741130.html</u>

Cisco UCS Differentiators

Cisco Unified Computing System is revolutionizing the way servers are managed in the datacenter. The following are the unique differentiators of Cisco UCS and Cisco UCS Manager:

- Embedded Management—In Cisco UCS, the servers are managed by the embedded firmware in the Fabric Interconnects, eliminating need for any external physical or virtual devices to manage the servers.
- Unified Fabric—In Cisco UCS, from blade server chassis or rack servers to FI, there is a single Ethernet cable used for LAN, SAN and management traffic. This converged I/O results in reduced cables, SFPs and adapters which in turn reduce capital and operational expenses of the overall solution.
- Auto Discovery—By simply inserting the blade server in the chassis or connecting rack server to the fabric interconnect, discovery and inventory of compute resource occurs automatically without any management intervention. The combination of unified fabric and auto-discovery enables the wire-once architecture of Cisco UCS, where its compute capability can be extended easily while keeping the existing external connectivity to LAN, SAN and management networks.
- Policy Based Resource Classification—When a compute resource is discovered by Cisco UCS Manager, it can be automatically classified to a given resource pool based on policies defined. This capability is useful in multi-tenant cloud computing. This CVD showcases the policy-based resource classification of Cisco UCS Manager.
- Combined Rack and Blade Server Management–Cisco UCS Manager can manage B-Series blade servers and C-Series rack server under the same Cisco UCS domain. This feature, along with stateless computing makes compute resources truly hardware form factor agnostic.
- Model-based Management Architecture–Cisco UCS Manager Architecture and management database is model based and data driven. An open XML API is provided to operate on the management model. This enables easy and scalable integration of Cisco UCS Manager with other management systems.
- Policies, Pools, Templates—The management approach in Cisco UCS Manager is based on defining policies, pools and templates, instead of cluttered configuration, which enables a simple, loosely coupled, data driven approach in managing compute, network and storage resources.
- Loose Referential Integrity—In Cisco UCS Manager, a service profile, port profile or policies can refer to other policies or logical resources with loose referential integrity. A referred policy cannot exist at the time of authoring the referring policy or a referred policy can be deleted even though other policies are referring to it. This provides different subject matter experts to work independently from each-other. This provides great flexibility where different experts from different domains, such as network, storage, security, server and virtualization work together to accomplish a complex task.
- Policy Resolution—In Cisco UCS Manager, a tree structure of organizational unit hierarchy can be created that mimics the real-life tenants and/or organization relationships. Various policies, pools and templates can be defined at different levels of organization hierarchy. A policy referring to another policy by name is resolved in the organization hierarchy with closest policy match. If no policy with specific name is found in the hierarchy of the root organization, then special policy named "default" is searched. This policy resolution practice enables automation friendly management APIs and provides great flexibility to owners of different organizations.

- Service Profiles and Stateless Computing—a service profile is a logical representation of a server, carrying its various identities and policies. This logical server can be assigned to any physical compute resource as far as it meets the resource requirements. Stateless computing enables procurement of a server within minutes, which used to take days in legacy server management systems.
- Built-in Multi-Tenancy Support—The combination of policies, pools and templates, loose referential integrity, policy resolution in organization hierarchy and a service profiles based approach to compute resources makes Cisco UCS Manager inherently friendly to multi-tenant environment typically observed in private and public clouds.
- Extended Memory—the enterprise-class Cisco UCS B200 M5 blade server extends the capabilities of Cisco's Unified Computing System portfolio in a half-width blade form factor. The Cisco UCS B200 M5 harnesses the power of the latest Intel Xeon scalable processors product family CPUs with up to 3 TB of RAM- allowing huge virtual machine-to-physical server ratio required in many deployments or allowing large memory operations required by certain architectures like Big-Data.
- Virtualization Aware Network–VM-FEX technology makes the access network layer aware about host virtualization. This prevents domain pollution of compute and network domains with virtualization when virtual network is managed by port-profiles defined by the network administrators' team. VM-FEX also off-loads hypervisor CPU by performing switching in the hardware, thus allowing hypervisor CPU to do more virtualization related tasks. VM-FEX technology is well integrated with VMware vCenter, Linux KVM and Hyper-V SR-IOV to simplify cloud management.
- Simplified QoS–Even though Fiber Channel and Ethernet are converged in Cisco UCS fabric, built-in support for QoS and lossless Ethernet makes it seamless. Network Quality of Service (QoS) is simplified in Cisco UCS Manager by representing all system classes in one GUI panel.

Cisco Nexus 9336C-FX2 Switches

In this solution, the Cisco Nexus 9336C-FX2 switches are used as upstream switches. It offers 36 40/100 Gigabit Ethernet QSFP+ ports. All ports are line rate, delivering 7.2 Tbps of throughput with a latency of less than 2 micro seconds in a 1-rack-unit (1RU) form factor.

Figure 4 Cisco UCS Nexus 9336C-FX2



For more information, go to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/switches/nexus-9336c-fx2-switch/index.html</u>

NetApp AFF A400 Storage

With the new A-Series All Flash FAS (AFF) controller lineup, NetApp provides industry leading performance while continuing to provide a full suite of enterprise-grade data management and data protection features. The A-Series lineup offers double the IOPS, while decreasing the latency.

This solution utilizes the NetApp AFF A400. This controller provides high performance benefits of 40/100GbE and all flash SSDs, while taking up only 5U of rack space. Configured with 24 x 1.9TB SSD, the A400 provides ample performance and over 60TB effective capacity. This makes it an ideal controller for a shared workload converged infrastructure. For situations where more performance is needed, the A800s would be better fit.



A400 Specifications

The major specifications of the NetApp A400 All Flash Storage Systems are listed below. For more information, see: <u>NetApp Hardware Universe</u>.

- OS and Data Management
 - ONTAP OS runs on the platform and manages data, and serves data to workloads running in FlexPod environment
- Storage
 - NVMe SED, non-SED, and NSE SSDs,
 - SAS NSE or non-NSE SSDs
 - Maximum Raw Capacity of 14688 TB from 480 30.6TB drives
- Storage Protocols: Multiple protocols support on the same platform
 - NAS (File): CIFS and NFS
 - SAN (Block): iSCSI and FCP
- IOPS and Latency: (per HA pair)
 - Maximum 400K IOPS with 100% 8K random read at 0.4ms latency
 - 13GB/s Throughput for FCP sequential read
- Form factor: 4U
- Processor and memory (per high availability pair)
 - CPU cores: 40
 - Memory: 256GB

- NVDIMM: 32GB
- Onboard I/O ports (per controller)
 - 2x QSFP28 (100GbE RoCE): NVMe storage attachment
 - 2x SFP28 (25GbE RoCE): HA
 - 4x mini-SAS HD: External storage attachment
 - DS224C and DS2246 shelves supported
 - Host IO access
 - Ethernet configuration: 4x SFP28 (25GbE RoCE)
 - Unified configuration: 4x SFP+ (16Gb FC)
 - 5x PCIe expansion slots
 - Cluster network adapter present in PCIe slot 3 by default
 - Maximum Nodes in a cluster: 24 for NAS and 12 for SAN

NetApp ONTAP 9.7

ONTAP 9.7 is the Operating System software for storage platforms and data management. ONTAP is used with the NetApp all-flash storage platforms in the solution design. ONTAP software offers unified storage for applications that read and write data over block or file-access protocols in storage configurations that range from high-speed flash to lower-priced spinning media or cloud-based object storage.

ONTAP implementations can run on NetApp engineered FAS or AFF appliances, on commodity hardware (ONTAP Select), and in private, public, or hybrid clouds (NetApp Private Storage and Cloud Volumes ONTAP). Specialized implementations offer best-in-class converged infrastructure as featured here as part of the FlexPod Datacenter solution and access to third-party storage arrays (NetApp FlexArray virtualization).

Together these implementations form the basic framework of the NetApp Data Fabric, with a common softwaredefined approach to data management and fast, efficient replication across platforms. FlexPod and ONTAP architectures can serve as the foundation for both hybrid cloud and private cloud designs.

The following sections provide an overview of how ONTAP 9.7 is an industry-leading data management software architected on the principles of software defined storage.

Heterogeneous Cluster

ONTAP 9.7 can run on multiple types of All flash, or FAS systems (with hybrid disks or spinning disks storage) and form a storage cluster. ONTAP 9.7 can also manage storage tier in cloud. Single storage ONTAP OS instance managing different storage tiers, makes efficient data tiering and workload optimization possible through single management realm.

NetApp Storage Virtual Machine

A NetApp ONTAP cluster serves data through at least one and possibly multiple storage virtual machines (SVMs; formerly called Vservers). An SVM is a logical abstraction that represents the set of physical resources of the cluster. Data volumes and network logical interfaces (LIFs) are created and assigned to an SVM and might reside on any node in the cluster to which the SVM has been given access. An SVM might own resources on multiple nodes concurrently, and those resources can be moved non-disruptively from one node in the storage cluster to another. For example, a NetApp FlexVol flexible volume can be non-disruptively moved to a new node and aggregate, or a data LIF can be transparently reassigned to a different physical network port. The SVM abstracts the cluster hardware, and thus it is not tied to any specific physical hardware.

An SVM can support multiple data protocols concurrently. Volumes within the SVM can be joined to form a single NAS namespace, which makes all SVM's data available through a single share or mount point to NFS and CIFS clients. SVMs also support block-based protocols, and LUNs can be created and exported by using iSCSI, FC, or FCoE. Any or all of these data protocols can be configured for use within a given SVM. Storage administrators and management roles can also be associated with SVM, which enables higher security and access control, particularly in environments with more than one SVM, when the storage is configured to provide services to different groups or set of workloads.

Storage Efficiencies

Storage efficiency has always been a primary architectural design point of ONTAP data management software. A wide array of features allows you to store more data using less space. In addition to deduplication and compression, you can store your data more efficiently by using features such as unified storage, multitenancy, thin provisioning, and utilize NetApp Snapshot technology.

Starting with ONTAP 9, NetApp guarantees that the use of NetApp storage efficiency technologies on AFF systems reduce the total logical capacity used to store customer data by 75 percent, a data reduction ratio of 4:1. This space reduction is enabled by a combination of several different technologies, including deduplication, compression, and compaction.

Compaction, which was introduced in ONTAP 9, is the latest patented storage efficiency technology released by NetApp. In the ONTAP WAFL file system, all I/O takes up 4KB of space, even if it does not actually require 4KB of data. Compaction combines multiple blocks that are not using their full 4KB of space together into one block. This one block can be more efficiently stored on the disk to save space.

Encryption

Data security continues to be an important consideration for customers purchasing storage systems. NetApp supported self-encrypting drives in storage clusters prior to ONTAP 9. However, in ONTAP 9, the encryption capabilities of ONTAP are extended by adding an Onboard Key Manager (OKM). The OKM generates and stores keys for each of the drives in ONTAP, allowing ONTAP to provide all functionality required for encryption out of the box. Through this functionality, sensitive data stored on disk is secure and can only be accessed by ONTAP.

Beginning with ONTAP 9.1, NetApp has extended the encryption capabilities further with NetApp Volume Encryption (NVE), a software-based mechanism for encrypting data. It allows a user to encrypt data at the pervolume level instead of requiring encryption of all data in the cluster, thereby providing more flexibility and granularity to the ONTAP administrators. This encryption extends to Snapshot copies and NetApp FlexClone volumes that are created in the cluster. One benefit of NVE is that it runs after the implementation of the storage efficiency features, and, therefore, it does not interfere with the ability of ONTAP to create space savings.

For more information about encryption in ONTAP, see the <u>NetApp Power Encryption Guide</u> in the <u>NetApp ONTAP</u> <u>9 Documentation Center</u>.

FlexClone

NetApp FlexClone technology enables instantaneous cloning of a dataset without consuming any additional storage until cloned data differs from the original.

SnapMirror (Data Replication)

NetApp SnapMirror is a replication technology for data replication across different sites, or within the same datacenter, or on-the-premises datacenter to cloud, or cloud to on-the-premises datacenter.

Quality of Service (QoS)

ONTAP allows to set Minimum, Maximum, and Adaptive QoS for workloads. Here are the details.

• QoS Max (also known as Limits)

Maximum performance level assigned to the storage object. This limits the amount of system resources that the workload can use. Often used to stop a workload from bullying/impacting other workloads. Max QoS can be set for SVM, Vol, LUN, File in ONTAP. It works by throttling throughput or IOPS at the network side.

• QoS Min (also known as Floors)

Minimum "guaranteed" performance level assigned to the storage object. Min QoS can be set for Vol, or LUN in ONTAP.

• Adaptive QoS

A dynamic QoS policy that maintains IOPS/TB ratio as storage size (used or provisioned) changes. Adaptive QoS policy lets performance (IOPS) scale automatically with storage capacity (TB). Adaptive QoS is can be set on volume.

• Service Level Management

Service level management is the management and monitoring of storage resources with respect to performance and capacity.

• Service Level Objective (SLO)

The key tenets of service level management. SLOs are defined by a service level agreement in terms of performance and capacity.

NetApp SnapCenter

SnapCenter is a NetApp next-generation data protection software for tier 1 enterprise applications. SnapCenter, with its single-pane-of-glass management interface, automates and simplifies the manual, complex, and time-consuming processes associated with the backup, recovery, and cloning of multiple databases and other application workloads.

SnapCenter leverages technologies, including NetApp Snapshot copies, SnapMirror replication technology, SnapRestore data recovery software, and FlexClone thin cloning technology, that allow it to integrate seamlessly with technologies offered by Oracle, Microsoft, SAP, VMware, and MongoDB across FC, iSCSI, and NAS protocols. This integration allows IT organizations to scale their storage infrastructure, meet increasingly stringent SLA commitments, and improve the productivity of administrators across the enterprise.

SnapCenter is used in this solution for the following use cases:

- Backup and restore of VMware virtual machines.
- Backup, restore, protection and cloning of SQL Databases.
- Storage provisioning for SQL databases and logs.

SnapCenter Architecture

SnapCenter is a centrally managed web-based application that runs on a Windows platform and remotely manages multiple servers that must be protected.

Figure 6 illustrates the high-level architecture of the NetApp SnapCenter Server.

Figure 6 SnapCenter Architecture



The SnapCenter Server has an HTML5-based GUI as well as PowerShell cmdlets and APIs.

The SnapCenter Server is high-availability capable out of the box, meaning that if one SnapCenter host is ever unavailable for any reason, then the second SnapCenter Server can seamlessly take over and no operations are affected.

The SnapCenter Server can push out plug-ins to remote hosts. These plug-ins are used to interact with an application, a database, or a file system. In most cases, the plug-ins must be present on the remote host so that application- or database-level commands can be issued from the same host where the application or database is running.

To manage the plug-ins and the interaction between the SnapCenter Server and the plug-in host, SnapCenter uses SM Service, which is a NetApp SnapManager web service running on top of Windows Server Internet Information Services (IIS) on the SnapCenter Server. SM Service takes all client requests such as backup, restore, clone, and so on.

The SnapCenter Server communicates those requests to SMCore, which is a service that runs co-located within the SnapCenter Server and remote servers and plays a significant role in coordinating with the SnapCenter plug-ins package for Windows. The package includes the SnapCenter plug-in for Microsoft Windows Server and SnapCenter plug-in for Microsoft SQL Server to discover the host file system, gather database metadata, quiesce and thaw, and manage the SQL Server database during backup, restore, clone, and verification.

SnapCenter Virtualization (SCV) is another plug-in that manages virtual servers running on VMWare and that helps in discovering the host file system, databases on virtual machine disks (VMDK), and raw device mapping (RDM).

SnapCenter Features

SnapCenter enables you to create application-consistent Snapshot copies and to complete data protection operations, including Snapshot copy-based backup, clone, restore, and backup verification operations. SnapCenter provides a centralized management environment, while using role-based access control (RBAC) to delegate data protection and management capabilities to individual application users across the SnapCenter Server and Windows hosts.

SnapCenter includes the following key features:

- A unified and scalable platform across applications and database environments and virtual and nonvirtual storage, powered by the SnapCenter Server.
- Consistency of features and procedures across plug-ins and environments, supported by the SnapCenter user interface.
- Role Based Access Control (RBAC) for security and centralized role delegation.
- Snapshot based application-consistent Backup, restore, clone, protection, and backup verification support from both primary and secondary destinations (NetApp SnapMirror and SnapVault).
- Remote package installation from the SnapCenter GUI.
- Nondisruptive, remote upgrades.
- A dedicated SnapCenter repository for backup catalog and faster data retrieval.
- Load balancing implemented by using Microsoft Windows network load balancing (NLB) and application request routing (ARR), with support for horizontal scaling.
- Centralized scheduling and policy management to support backup and clone operations.
- Centralized reporting, monitoring, and dashboard views.
- Backup, restore and data protection for VMware virtual machines, SQL Server Databases, Oracle Databases, MySQL, SAP HANA, MongoDB, and Microsoft Exchange.
- SnapCenter Plug-in for VMware in vCenter integration into the vSphere Web Client. All virtual machine backup and restore tasks are preformed through the web client GUI.

Using the SnapCenter Plug-in for SQL Server you can do the following:

- Create policies, resource groups and backup schedules for SQL Database.
- Backup SQL Databases and Logs.
- Restore SQL Databases (on Windows guest OS).
- Protect Database backup on secondary site for Disaster recovery.
- Protect Database backup on SnapVault for Archival
- Create Database clone.
- Provision storage to Windows VMs for SQL Databases and Logs.
- Monitor backup and data protection operations.
- Generate reports of backup and data protection operations.
- Support RBAC security and centralized role delegation .
- Generate dashboard and reports that provide visibility into protected versus unprotected databases and status of backup, restore, and mount jobs.

Using the SnapCenter Plug-in for VMware in vCenter you can do the following:

• Create policies, resource groups and backup schedules for virtual machines.

- Backup virtual machines, VMDKs, and datastores.
- Restore virtual machines, VMDKs, and files and folders (on Windows guest OS).
- Attach and detach VMDK.
- Monitor and report data protection operations on virtual machines and datastores.
- Support RBAC security and centralized role delegation.
- Support guest file or folder (single or multiple) support for Windows guest OS.
- Restore an efficient storage base from primary and secondary Snapshot copies through Single File SnapRestore.
- Generate dashboard and reports that provide visibility into protected versus unprotected virtual machines and status of backup, restore, and mount jobs.
- Attach or detach virtual disks from secondary Snapshot copies.
- Attach virtual disks to an alternate virtual machine.

Microsoft SQL Server Database Storage Layout with SnapCenter

SnapCenter best practice considerations for Microsoft SQL Server database layout are aligned with the suggested Microsoft SQL Server deployment. SnapCenter supports backup only of user databases that reside on a NetApp storage system. Along with the performance benefit of segregating user database layout into different volumes, SnapCenter also has a large influence on the time required to back up and restore. Separate volumes for data and log files significantly improve the restore time as compared to a single volume hosting multiple user data files. Similarly, user databases with I/O-intensive applications might experience increased backup time.

When backing-up databases with SnapCenter, take the following considerations into account:

- Databases with I/O intensive queries throughout the day should be isolated in different volumes and eventually have separate jobs to back them up.
- Large databases and databases that have minimal RTO should be placed in separate volumes for faster recovery.
- Small to medium-size databases that are less critical or that have fewer I/O requirements should be consolidated into a single volume. Backing up many databases residing in the same volume results in fewer Snapshot copies to be maintained. NetApp also recommends consolidating Microsoft SQL Server instances to use the same volumes to control the number of backup Snapshot copies taken.
- Create separate LUNs to store full text-related files and file-streaming-related files.
- Assign a separate LUN for each instance to store Microsoft SQL server log backups. The LUNs can be part of the same volume.
- System databases store database server metadata, configurations, and job details; they are not updated frequently. System databases and tempdb should be placed in separate drives or LUNs. Do not place system databases in same volume as user databases. User databases have different backup policies and the frequency of user database backups is not same as for system databases.
- With Microsoft SQL Server AG setup, the data and log files for replicas should be placed in an identical folder structure on all nodes.

Best Practices

The following are the NetApp recommendations on volume design for optimal performance:

- Allocate at least 10 percent of available free space in an aggregate.
- Use flexible volumes to store Microsoft SQL Server database files and do not share volumes between hosts.
- Use NTFS mount points instead of drive letters to avoid the 26-drive letter limitation in Microsoft Windows Server.

Note: When using volume mount points, NetApp recommends giving the volume label the same name as the mount point.

- Configure a volume auto size policy, when appropriate, to help prevent out-of-space conditions.
- When the SQL Server database I/O profile consists mostly of large sequential reads, such as with decision support system workloads, enable read reallocation on the volume. Read reallocation optimizes the blocks for better performance.
- Set the Snapshot copy reserve value in the volume to zero for ease of monitoring from an operational perspective.
- Disable storage Snapshot copy schedules and retention policies. Instead, use the SnapCenter for SQL Server plug-in to coordinate Snapshot copies of the Microsoft SQL Server data volumes.
- Microsoft SQL Server uses the system database tempdb as a temporary workspace, especially for I/O intensive database consistency checker (DBCC) CHECKDB operations. Therefore, place this database on a dedicated volume with a separate set of spindles. In large environments where volume count is a challenge, you can consolidate tempdb into fewer volumes and store it in the same volume as other system databases. This procedure requires careful planning. Data protection for tempdb is not a high priority because this database is re-created every time the SQL Server is restarted.
- Place user data files (.mdf) on separate volumes because they are random read/write workloads. It is
 common to create transaction log backups more frequently than database backups. For this reason, place
 transaction log files (.ldf) on a separate volume or VMDK from the data files so that independent backup
 schedules can be created for each. This separation also isolates the sequential write I/O of the log files from
 the random read/write I/O of data files and significantly improves Microsoft SQL Server performance.

VMware vSphere 6.7 U3

VMWare vSphere 6.7 is the industry leading virtualization platform. VMware ESXi 6.7 U3 is used to deploy and run the virtual machines. VCenter Server Appliance 6.7 is used to manage the ESXi hosts and virtual machines. Multiple ESXi hosts running on Cisco UCS B200 M5 blades are used form a VMware ESXi cluster. VMware ESXi cluster pool the compute, memory and network resources from all the cluster nodes and provides resilient platform for virtual machines running on the cluster. VMware ESXi cluster features, vSphere high availability and Distributed Resources Scheduler (DRS), contribute to the tolerance of the vSphere Cluster withstanding failures as well as distributing the resources across the VMWare ESXi hosts.

Microsoft Windows Server 2019

Windows Server 2019 is the latest OS platform release from Microsoft. Windows 2019 server provides great platform to run SQL Server 2019 databases. It brings in more features and enhancements around various aspects like security, patching, domains, cluster, storage, and support for various new hardware features etc. This enables windows server to provide best-in-class performance and highly scalable platform for deploying SQL Server databases.

Microsoft SQL Server 2019

Microsoft SQL Server 2019 is the latest relational database engine from Microsoft. It brings in many new features and enhancements to the relational and analytical engines and offered in both Linux and Windows flavors. Being most widely adopted and deployed database platform over several years, IT organization facing database sprawl and that would lead to underutilization of hardware resources and datacenter footprint, higher power consumption, uncontrolled licensing, difficulties in managing hundreds or thousands of SQL instances. To avoid, SQL Server sprawl, IT departments are looking for consolidation of SQL Server databases as a solution.

It is recommended to use Microsoft Assessment and Planning (MAP) toolkit when customers are planning for SQL Server database consolidation or migration. MAP toolkit scans existing infrastructure and gets the complete inventory of SQL Server installations in the network. Please read the Microsoft Developer Network article <u>here</u> for additional information about the MAP tool for SQL Server databases.

Solution Design

FlexPod is a defined set of hardware and software that serves as an integrated foundation for both virtualized and non-virtualized solutions. VMware vSphere built on FlexPod includes NetApp All Flash FAS storage, Cisco Nexus networking, Cisco Unified Computing System, and VMware vSphere software in a single package. The design is flexible enough that the networking, computing, and storage can fit in one datacenter rack or be deployed according to a customer's data center design. Port density enables the networking components to accommodate multiple configurations of this kind.

One benefit of the FlexPod architecture is the ability to customize or "flex" the environment to suit a customer's requirements. A FlexPod can easily be scaled as requirements and demand change. The unit can be scaled both up (adding resources to a FlexPod unit) and out (adding more FlexPod units). The reference architecture detailed in this document highlights the resiliency, cost benefit, and ease of deployment of an IP-based storage solution. A storage system capable of serving multiple protocols across a single interface allows for customer choice and investment protection because it truly is a wire-once architecture.

<u>Figure 7</u> shows FlexPod components and the network connections for a configuration with the Cisco UCS 6454 Fabric Interconnects. This design can support 100Gbps Ethernet connections between the Fabric Interconnect and NetApp AFF 400 storage array. Between Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Chassis and the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect, up to 8x 25Gbps uplink cables can be connected using 2408 IO module on each side of Fabric there by supporting up to 200Gbps network bandwidth on each side of Fabric. This infrastructure is deployed to provide iSCSI-booted hosts with file-level and block-level access to shared storage. The reference architecture reinforces the " wire-once" strategy, because as additional storage is added to the architecture, no re-cabling is required from the hosts to the Cisco UCS fabric interconnect.



Figure 7 FlexPod With Cisco UCS 6454 Fabric Interconnects

<u>Figure 7</u> illustrates a base design. Each of the components can be scaled easily to support specific business requirements. For example, more (or different) servers or even blade chassis can be deployed to increase compute capacity, additional storage controllers or disk shelves can be deployed to improve I/O capability and throughput, and special hardware or software features can be added to introduce new features.

The following components are used to the validate and test the solution:

- 1x Cisco 5108 chassis with Cisco UCS 2408 IO Modules
- 5x B200 M5 Blades with VIC 1440 and an optional Port Expander card
- Two Cisco Nexus 9336C-FX2 switches
- Two Cisco UCS 6454 fabric interconnects
- One NetApp AFF A400 (high availability pair) running clustered Data ONTAP with NVMe Disk shelves and Solid-State Drives (SSD)

In this solution, VMware ESXi 6.7U3 virtual environments is tested and validated for deploying SQL Server 2019 databases on virtual machines running Windows Server 2019 guest operating system. SQL Server virtual machines are configured to connect the NetApp AFF400 storage luns directly using in-guest software iSCSI initiator. This approach bypasses the ESXI hypervisor VMFS storage layer for the luns that are used for storing SQL Server database files. This design approach gives better performance, simplified management, efficient backups of data and ability to associate storage QoS directly to objects hosting SQL data.

<u>Table 1</u> lists the hardware and software components along with image versions used in the solution.

	aluwale and Soltwale Component	3 Specifications	
Layer	Device	Image	Components
Compute	Cisco UCS 4 th generation 6454 Fabric Interconnects	4.1(1c)	Includes Cisco 5108 blade chassis with UCS 2408 IO Modules Cisco UCS B200 M5 blades with Cisco UCS VIC 1440 adapter. Each blade is configured with 2x Intel Xeon 6248 Gold processors and 384 GB (12x 32G) Memory.
Network Switches	Includes Cisco Nexus 9336C-FX2	NX-OS: 9.3(4)	
Storage Controllers	NetApp AFF A400 storage controllers	Data ONTAP 9.7	
Software	Cisco UCS Manager	4.1(1c)	
	VMware vSphere ESXi	6.7 U3	
	VMware vCenter	6.7 U3	
	Microsoft Windows Server	Windows Server 2019	For Virtual Machine Guest Operating System
	NetApp Virtual Storage Console (VSC)	9.7	For Datastore storage provisioning to ESXi hosts
	NetApp SnapCenter	4.3.1	For VM and SQL database backup, restore and protection
	NetApp ActivelQ Manager	9.7	Monitoring Storage infrastructure health and performance
	Microsoft SQL Server	2019 (15.0.2000.5)	

 Table 1
 Hardware and Software Components Specifications

Configuration

This section describes the specific configurations and recommendations that are important for deploying FlexPod Datacenter for hosting Windows Server 2019 virtual machines running SQL Server 2019.

This documentation does not provide all the steps for deploying FlexPod Datacenter with VMware vSphere 6.7 U3. Refer to the base infrastructure documentation here: <u>FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp</u> <u>ONTAP 9.7, Cisco Intersight, and VMware vSphere 6.7 U3</u>. The SQL Server 2019 deployment steps not explained in the infrastructure CVD are included in the following sections.

Cisco UCS Manager Configuration

This section discusses specific Cisco UCS Manager policies that are different from the base FlexPod infrastructure configuration and important for obtaining optimal performance for SQL Server workloads.

As mentioned earlier, SQL Server virtual machines are configured to access the storage volumes directly using iSCSI protocol for storing database files. Hence it is important to use right network and adapter policies for low latency and better storage bandwidth as the underlying Cisco VIC network bandwidth is shared by many SQL Server virtual machines (for both management and storage access) as well as ESXi host management, vMotion and NFS traffics and so on.

VNIC Templates

The following vNIC templates are used on each ESXi host for various infrastructure and SQL virtual machine management traffics. The purpose of each vNIC template is listed below:

- vSwitch0-A: Is used for ESXi host management traffic via Fabric A
- vSwitch0-B: Is used for ESXi host management traffic via Fabric B
- SQL-vDS-A: Is used for the infrastructure management traffics like vMotion, NFS storage access, SQL virtual machine management and also for SQL iSCSI storage traffic via Fabric A.
- SQL-vDS-B: Is used for the infrastructure management traffics like vMotion, NFS storage access, SQL virtual machine management and also for SQL iSCSI storage traffic via Fabric B.
- SQL-iSCSI-Boot-A: Is used for booting ESXi host from NetApp Storage LUN using overlay network via Fabric A.
- SQL-iSCSI-Boot-B: Is used for booting ESXi host from NetApp Storage LUN using overlay network via Fabric B.

Table 2 lists additional configuration details of the vNICs templates used in this reference architecture.

vNIC Template Name:	vSwitch0-A	vSwitch0-B	SQL-vDS-A	SQL-vDS-B	SQL-ISCSI- Boot-A	SQL-ISCSI- Boot-B
Purpose	ESXi Host Management via Fabric-A	ESXi Host Management via Fabric-B	SQL Mgmt, SQL iSCSI, vMotion, NFS via Fabric-A	SQL Mgmt, SQL iSCSI, vMotion, NFS via Fabric-B	ESXi host SAN Boot via Fabric-A	ESXi host SAN Boot via Fabric- B

Table 2 List of vNICs

Configuration

vNIC Template Name:	vSwitch0-A	vSwitch0-B	SQL-vDS-A	SQL-vDS-B	SQL-ISCSI- Boot-A	SQL-ISCSI- Boot-B
Setting	Value	Value	Value	Value	Value	Value
Fabric ID	A	В	A	В	A	В
Fabric Failover	Disabled	Disabled	Disabled	Disabled	Disabled	Disabled
Redundancy Type	Primary Template. (Peer Redundancy: vSwitch0-B)	Secondary Template. (Peer Redundancy: vSwitch0-A)	Primary Template (Peer Redundancy: SQL-vDS-B)	Secondary Template (Peer Redundancy: SQL-vDS-A)	No Redundancy	No Redundancy
Target	Adapter	Adapter	Adapter	Adapter	Adapter	Adapter
Туре	Updating Template	Updating Template	Updating Template	Updating Template	Updating Template	Updating Template
MTU	9000	9000	9000	9000	9000	9000
MAC Pool	MAC-Pool-A	MAC-Pool-B	MAC-Pool-A	MAC-Pool-B	MAC-Pool-A	MAC-Pool-B
QoS Policy	Not-set	Not-set	Not-set	Not-set	Not-set	Not-set
Network Control Policy	Enable-CDP- LLDP	Enable-CDP- LLDP	Enable-CDP-LLDP	Enable-CDP-LLDP	Enable- CDP-LLDP	Enable-CDP- LLDP
Connection Policy: VMQ	Not-set	Not-set	SQL-VMQ	SQL-VMQ	Not-set	Not-set
VLANS	IB-Mgmt (113)	IB-Mgmt (113)	SQL-ISCSI-A (3015), SQL- ISCSI-B (3025), SQL-Mgmt (905), SQL-NFS (3055), vMotion (3000)	SQL-ISCSI-A (3015), SQL- ISCSI-B (3025), SQL-Mgmt (905), SQL-NFS (3055), vMotion (3000)	SQL-iSCSI- A (3015)	SQL-ISCSI-B (3025)
Native VLAN	No	No	No	No	3015	3025

Ensure the ports on the upstream switches are appropriately configured with the MTU and VLANs for end-to-end consistent configuration.

<u>Table 3</u> lists additional information about the VLANs used for various purposes in the reference architecture.

Table 3 Necessary VLANs					
VLAN Name	VLAN Purpose	ID used in this architecture validation			
In Band Mgmt	VLAN for in-band management of ESXi hosts	113			
Native-VLAN	VLAN to which untagged frames are assigned	2			
SQL-MGMT	VLAN for in-band management of SQL Server Virtual Machines	905			
SQL-Client	VLAN for SQL Server – Client communication Traffic or for other traffic coming into services running in VM	1000			
SQL-iSCSI-A	VLAN for iSCSI A traffic for SQL virtual machines on ESXi as well as ESXi Infrastructure	3015			
SQL-iSCSI-B	VLAN for iSCSI B traffic for SQL virtual machines on ESXi as well as ESXi Infrastructure	3025			
vMotion	VLAN for VMware vMotion	3000			
SQL-NFS	VLAN for accessing NetApp storage LUNS using NFS protocol by ESXI hosts (used for storing VMs OS disks (.vmdk)).	3055			
Out of Band Mgmt	VLAN for out-of-band management of B200 M5 Blades	17			

Table 3 Necessary VLANs

By leveraging above vNIC templates, a LAN connectivity policy is created and within this policy six vNICs have been derived in the specific order as shown below figure. Every ESXI server will detect the network interfaces in the same order, and they will always be connected to the same VLANs via the same network fabrics.

General Events								
Actions	Name : SQL-iSCSI-Boo	t						
Delete	Description :							
Show Policy Usage	Owner : Local	a vNICs that the server should	d use to connect to the LAN					
Use Global	Name	MAC Address	Nat	ive VLAN				
	▶ vNIC 00-vSwitch0-A	Derived						
	▶ vNIC 01-vSwitch0-B	Derived						
	VNIC 02-SQL-VDS-A	Derived						
	VNIC 03-SQL-vDS-B	Derived						
	▶ vNIC 04-iSCSI-Boot-A	Derived						
	▶ vNIC 05-iSCSI-Boot-B	Derived						
		Delete 🕀 Add 🕕 Modify						
	Add iSCSI vNICs							
	Name	Overlay vNIC Name	iSCSI Adapter Policy	MAC Addre				
	iSCSI vNIC iSCSI-Boot-A	04-iSCSI-Boot-A	default	Derived				
	iSCSI vNIC iSCSI-Boot-B	05-iSCSI-Boot-B	default	Derived				
		(+) Add	Delete Dodify					

Figure 8 vNICs Derived using LAN Connectivity Policy

The bottom two iSCSI vNICs are overlay network adapters which are detected during the ESXi boot itself, establish connections to the NetApp storage array and boots the UCS B200 M5 blade from storage SAN LUN.

VMQ Policy

To help reduce the burden for the hypervisor and eliminate the queue sharing, the Cisco UCS VIC can create dedicated queue pairs for guest machines running under VMware ESXi. This approach provides significant benefits. First, the transmit and receive queue pairs are no longer shared with other guest machines. Second, the hypervisor is no longer responsible for sorting and switching packets because packet steering is moved to the adapter. The adapter performs packet steering based on Layer 2 information such as MAC address and VLAN. As a result, the hypervisor is responsible only for moving the traffic between the adapter and the virtual machine. This approach improves I/O performance and frees the hypervisor for other tasks. The Cisco UCS VIC supports up to 128 virtual machine queues (VMQs) per vNIC and a total of 256 VMQs per adapter.

Create a VMQ policy with appropriate settings as shown below. The Number of VMQs is typically no of virtual machines in the host and number of interrupts will be 2x VMQ +2.

•	LAN / Policies / root / Sub- Organizations	/ SQL / VMQ Connection / SQL-VMQ
QoS Policies	General Events	
 Threshold Policies 		
 VMQ Connection Policies 	Actions	Properties
SQL-VMQ	Delete	Name : SQL-VMQ
 usNIC Connection Policies 	Show Policy Usage	Description :
▼ vNIC Templates		Multi Queue : Oisabled O Enabled
vNIC Template SQL-iSCSI-Boo		Number of VMQs : 8
vNIC Template SQL-iSCSI-Boo		Number of Interrupts : 18
vNIC Template SQL-vDS-A		
vNIC Template SQL-vDS-B		
vNIC Template vSwitch0-A		
vNIC Template vSwitch0-B		
 Sub-Organizations 		

The VMQ policy needs to be applied on the SQL-vDS-A and SQL-vDS-B vNIC templates. <u>Figure 10</u> shows applying VMQ policy on the SQL-vDS-A vNIC template.

Figure 10 Applying VMQ Policy to SQL-vDS-A vNIC Template

All	LAN / Policies	s / root /	Sub- Organizations	/ sqi	/ vNIC Templates / vN	IIC Template
 LAN Connectivity Policies 	General	VLANs	VLAN Groups	Fault	s Events	
SQL-iSCSI-Boot						
 Network Control Policies 						
QoS Policies					Template Type :	O Initial Template Updating Template
 Threshold Policies 					CDN Source :	vNIC Name User Defined
 VMQ Connection Policies 					MTU :	9000
SQL-VMQ					Policies	
usNIC Connection Policies					MAC Pool :	MAC-Pool-A(210/256) 🔻
▼ vNIC Templates					QoS Policy :	<not set=""> 🔻</not>
vNIC Template SQL-iSCSI-I					Network Control Policy :	Enable-CDP-LLDP
vNIC Template SQL-iSCSI-I					Pin Group	cont coto
vNIC Template SQL-vDS-A					Chine Theorem 14 Decision	
vNIC Template SQL-vDS-B					Stats Threshold Policy :	default 🔻
vNIC Template vSwitch0-A					Connection Policies —	
vNIC Template vSwitch0-B					Oynamic vNIC () usNI	C VMQ
 Sub-Organizations 					VMQ Connection Policy :	SQL-VMQ 🔻
Pools						<not set=""></not>
▼ root 👽						Domain Policies
▶ IP Pools						SQL-VMQ
MAC Pools				L		

Adapter Policy

The adapter policy allows the administrator to declare the capabilities of the vNIC, such as the number of rings, ring sizes, and offload enablement and disablement. The Transmit Queues, Receive Queues defined in the default VMware Adapter policy may not be sufficient as more SQL Server databases are consolidated on the FlexPod System.

It is recommended to increase the Transmit and Receive queues in smaller increments added with sufficient testing based on workload demand instead of setting them directly to the highest possible values. Changes to these settings need to be thoroughly tested before using in the production deployment. <u>Figure 11</u> shows a sample adapter policy used for FlexPod system built using VMware ESXi clusters for running SQL Server database workloads. As more SQL virtual machines are added to the cluster, depending on network bandwidth requirements, the number of queues and buffer sizes can be increased in smaller steps.

Receive Side Scaling (RSS) improves the performance by scheduling the interrupts on multiple cores on the host. Offloading networking functions such as checksum, segmentation, and so on, from host to Adapter will reduce the host CPU requirements to process these functions.

Figure 11	Adapter	Dolicy for	Higher Network	Throughput
i igule i i				innoughput

General Events		
Actions	Properties	
Delete	Name : SQL-VMW-HTRF	
Show Policy Usage	Description :	
	Owner : Local	
-) Resources		
Pooled : Oisabled Cinabled		
Transmit Queues : 1 [1-1000]		
Ring Size : 256 [64-4096]		
Receive Queues : 8 [1-1000]		
Ring Size : 512 [64-4096]		
Completion Queues : 9 [1-2000]		
nterrupts : 11 [1-1024]		
Fransmit Checksum Offload	: Disabled • Enabled	
ICR Segmentation Offload	: Disabled Enabled	
ICP Large Receive Offload	: Disabled Enabled	
Receive Side Scaling (RSS)	: O Disabled (Enabled	
Accelerated Receive Flow Steering	: Disabled Enabled	
Network Virtualization using Generic Routing Enca	psulation : Disabled Enabled	
/irtual Extensible LAN	: Oisabled C Enabled	
Failback Timeout (Seconds)	: 5	[0-600]
nterrupt Mode		
nterrupt Coalescing Type	: O Min O Idle	
nterrupt Timer (us)	: 125	[0-65535]
RoCE	: Oisabled Cenabled	
Advance Filter	: O Disabled O Enabled	
ptorrupt Spaling		

Using the LAN connectivity policy, the new adapter policy can be applied to vNICs used for serving SQL Server storage traffic. In this reference architecture, this new adapter policy is applied to vNICs that are derived from SQL-vDS-A and SQL-vDS-B templates. Figure 12 shows applying the new adapter policy SQL-VMW-HTRF to the 02-SQL-vDS-A vNIC.

Modify vNIC		? ×
Name : 02-SQL-vDS-A		
Use vNIC Template : 🗹		
Create vNIC Template vNIC Template : SQL-vDS-A		
Adapter Policy : SQL-VMW-HTRF V	Create Ethernet Adapter Policy	
	Create QoS Policy	
	Create Network Control Policy	
Connection Policies		
O Dynamic vNIC O usNIC O VMQ		
		OK Cancel

Figure 12 Applying Adapter Policy Using LAN Connectivity Policy

For more information on the VIC tuning options and performance validation, refer to the following links:

https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/products/collateral/interfaces-modules/unified-computing-systemadapters/vic-tuning-wp.pdf

https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/products/collateral/interfaces-modules/unified-computing-systemadapters/whitepaper-c11-741550.pdf

BIOS Policy

It is recommended to use appropriate BIOS settings on the servers based on the workload they run. The default bios settings work towards power savings by reducing the operating speeds of processors and move the cores to the deeper sleeping states. These states need to be disabled for sustained high performance of database queries. The following BIOS settings are used in our performance tests for obtaining optimal system performance for SQL Server OLTP workloads on Cisco UCS B200 M5 server.

ain Advanced Boot Options	Server Management Events						
Processor Intel Directed IO RAS Memory Serial Port USB							
S Setting	Value						
Altitude	Platform Default	Sub NUMA Clustering	Disabled	XPT Prefetch	Enabled		
CPU Hardware Power Management	HWPM Native Mode	Local X2 Apic	Platform Default	Core Performance Boost	Platform Defaul		
Boot Performance Mode	Max Performance	Max Variable MTRR Setting	Platform Default	Downcore control	Platform Defau		
CPU Performance	Enterprise	P STATE Coordination	HW ALL	Global C-state Control	Platform Defau		
Core Multi Processing	Platform Default	Package C State Limit	C0 C1 State	L1 Stream HW Prefetcher	Platform Defaul		
DCPMM Firmware Downgrade	Platform Default	Autonomous Core C-state	Disabled	L2 Stream HW Prefetcher	Platform Defau		
DRAM Clock Throttling	Performance	Processor C State	Disabled	Determinism Slider	Platform Defau		
Direct Cache Access	Platform Default	Processor C1E	Disabled	IOMMU	Platform Defau		
Energy Performance Tuning	OS	Processor C3 Report	Disabled	Bank Group Swap	Platform Defau		
Enhanced Intel SpeedStep Tech	Enabled	Processor C6 Report	Disabled	Bank Group Swap	Platform Defau		
Execute Disable Bit	Platform Default	Processor C7 Report	Disabled	Chipselect Interleaving	Platform Defau		
Frequency Floor Override	Enabled	Processor CMCI	Platform Default	Configurable TDP Control	Platform Defau		
Intel HyperThreading Tech	Enabled	Power Technology	Performance	AMD Memory Interleaving	Platform Defau		
Energy Efficient Turbo	Disabled	Energy Performance	Performance	AMD Memory Interleaving Size	Platform Defau		
Intel Turbo Boost Tech	Platform Default	ProcessorEppProfile	Performance	SMEE	Platform Defau		
Intel Virtualization Technology	Enabled	Adjacent Cache Line Prefetcher	Enabled	SMT Mode	Platform Defau		
Intel Speed Select	Platform Default	DCU IP Prefetcher	Enabled	SVM Mode	Platform Defau		
Channel Interleaving	Platform Default	DCU Streamer Prefetch	Enabled	Demand Scrub	Platform Defau		
IMC Inteleave	Auto	Hardware Prefetcher	Enabled	Patrol Scrub	Disabled		
Memory Interleaving	Platform Default	UPI Prefetch	Enabled	Workload Configuration	Platform Defau		

The remaining policies and configuration steps for deploying FlexPod System for hosting SQL Server virtual machines are same as the base infrastructure CVD as described here:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified computing/ucs/UCS CVDs/fp dc ontap 97 ucs 4 vmw vs 67 U3.html# Toc41630093

For iSCSI specific UCS and ESXi host configuration steps, please refer "Create iSCSI Boot Service Profile Template" section in the infrastructure CVD as described here:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified computing/ucs/UCS CVDs/fp dc ontap 97 ucs 4 vmw vs 67 _U3.html# Toc41630249

NetApp Management Tools Setup and Configuration

Figure 13 Bios policy for Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blade Server

This section provides more information about how to configure NetApp management tool like Virtual Storage console (VSC) and SnapCenter which are used and validated in this solution.

Virtual Storage Console (VSC) 9.7

Refer to the <u>NetApp Virtual Storage Console (VSC) 9.7 Deployment</u> section of the FlexPod Infrastructure CVD, for the VSC deployment steps.

NetApp VSC 9.7 was used in this solution validation to provision storage for VMware ESXi datastores for virtual machines.

SnapCenter 4.3

NetApp SnapCenter 4.3 was used in this solution validation for following use cases:

- Backup and restore of VMware virtual machines.
- Backup, restore, protection and cloning of SQL Databases.
• Storage provisioning for SQL databases and logs.

Installation of SnapCenter 4.3

Refer to the <u>NetApp SnapCenter 4.3 Installation and Configuration</u> section of the FlexPod Infrastructure CVD, for the SnapCenter 4.3 Installation steps. Installation and configuration of the SnapCenter Plug-in for VMWare vCenter is required for the VM Backup/Restore and is also explained in the FlexPod Infrastructure CVD.

Installation of SnapCenter Plug-in for SQL

SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft SQL Server is required to protect SQL Server databases using SnapCenter. SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft SQL Server and SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft Windows, both are required on each Windows VM running SQL server.

Refer to the Installation guide for SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft SQL Server, for prerequisites and installation steps. When a Host (Windows VM) running SQL Server is added to SnapCenter, SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft SQL Server and SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft Windows are installed on the VM. Steps to add Host to SnapCenter are in Add Hosts (Windows VMs) to SnapCenter.

Table 1 Telettoquitettion	
Port	Requirement
443 (HTTPS)	Used for communication between the SnapCenter Server and SVM management LIF of ONTAP.
8146 (HTTPS)	Used for communication between the SnapCenter client (the SnapCenter user) and the SnapCenter Server. Also used for communication from the plug-in hosts to the SnapCenter Server.
135, 445 (TCP) on Windows plug-in hosts	The ports are used for communication between the SnapCenter Server and the host on which the plug-in is being installed. To push plug-in package binaries to Windows plug-in hosts, the ports must be open only on the plug-in host, and they can be closed after installation.
8145 (HTTPS), bidirectional	The port is used for communication between SMCore and hosts where the SnapCenter plug- ins package for Windows is installed.
1433 (TCP)	Port for SQL Server management access

Table 4 Port Requirements

License Requirements for SnapCenter Plug-in for SQL Server

The following licenses are required to be installed on the ONTAP storage system to backup and restore SQL Server databases:

Table 5 SnapCenter Plug-in for Microsoft SQL Server License Requirements

1 0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Product	License Requirements

Product	License Requirements	
ONTAP Primary	For SnapCenter Plug-in for of SQL Server, following licenses should be installed:	
	One of these: SnapMirror or SnapVault (for secondary data protection regardless of the type of relationship)	
	SnapManagerSuite: used for SnapCenter functionality	
	SnapRestore: used for restore operations	
	FlexClone: used for mount and attach operations	
ONTAP Secondary Destinations	To perform protection of SQL databases, on secondary storage: FlexClone: used for mount and attach operations	

Active IQ Unified Manager 9.7

Refer to the <u>Active IQ Unified Manager 9.7</u> section of the Infrastructure CVD for the Active IQ Unified Manager Installation and Configuration steps.

NetApp Storage Configuration for Windows VMs on ESXi and SQL Databases

On NetApp storage cluster, Storage Virtual Machines (SVMs) is created for ESXi Datastores for Windows Server 2019 virtual machines and SQL Server databases and logs.

Create Storage Virtual Machine (SVM) for SQL Workload

SVM for SQL Server Databases serves as logical storage system for Windows VMs and SQL Databases, called SQL SVM.

To create an SQL SVM, follow these steps:

1. Run the vserver create command.

```
vserver create -vserver SQL-SVM -rootvolume rootvol -aggregate aggr1_node01 -rootvolume-security-style unix
```

2. Select the SVM data protocols to configure, keeping iSCSI and nfs only.

vserver remove-protocols -vserver SQL-SVM -protocols fcp, cifs, ndmp

3. Add the two data aggregates to the SQL-SVM aggregate list for the NetApp VSC.

vserver modify -vserver SQL-SVM -aggr-list aggr1_node01,aggr1_node02

4. Enable and run the NFS protocol in the Infra-SVM.

nfs create -vserver Infra-SVM -udp disabled

5. Turn on the SVM vStorage parameter for the NetApp NFS vStorage APIs - Array integration VAAI plug-in.

```
vserver nfs modify -vserver SQL-SVM -vstorage enabled vserver nfs show
```

Create Load-Sharing Mirrors of SVM Root Volume

To create a load-sharing mirror of an SVM root volume, follow these steps:

1. Create a volume to be the load-sharing mirror of the infrastructure SVM root volume on each node.

volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume rootvol_m01 -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 1GB -type DP volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume rootvol_m02 -aggregate aggr1_node02 -size 1GB -type DP

2. Create a job schedule to update the root volume mirror relationships every 15 minutes.

job schedule interval create -name 15min -minutes 15

3. Create the mirroring relationships.

```
snapmirror create -source-path SQL-SVM:rootvol -destination-path SQL-SVM:rootvol_m01 -type LS -
schedule 15min
snapmirror create -source-path SQL-SVM:rootvol -destination-path SQL-SVM:rootvol_m02 -type LS -
schedule 15min
```

4. Initialize the mirroring relationship.

```
snapmirror initialize-ls-set -source-path SQL-SVM:rootvol
snapmirror show
```

5. Create Block Protocol (iSCSI) Service.

Run the following command to create the iSCSI service on SVM. This command also starts the iSCSI service and sets the IQN for the SVM.

```
iscsi create -vserver SQL-SVM iscsi show
```

Configure HTTPS Access

To configure secure access to the storage controller, follow these steps:

1. Increase the privilege level to access the certificate commands.

```
set -privilege diag
Do you want to continue? {y|n}: y
```

2. Generally, a self-signed certificate is already in place. Verify the certificate and obtain parameters (for example, <serial-number>) by running the following command:

security certificate show

3. For each SVM shown, the certificate common name should match the DNS FQDN of the SVM. Delete the two default certificates and replace them with either self-signed certificates or certificates from a certificate authority (CA). To delete the default certificates, run the following commands:

```
security certificate delete -vserver SQL-SVM -common-name SQL-SVM -ca SQL-SVM -type server -serial
<serial-number>
```



Deleting expired certificates before creating new certificates is a best practice. Run the security certificate delete command to delete the expired certificates. In the following command, use TAB completion to select and delete each default certificate.

 To generate and install self-signed certificates, run the following commands as one-time commands. Generate a server certificate for the SQL-SVM and the cluster SVM. Use TAB completion to aid in the completion of these commands.

```
security certificate create -common-name <cert-common-name> -type server -size 2048 -country <cert-
country> -state <cert-state> -locality <cert-locality> -organization <cert-org> -unit <cert-unit> -
email-addr <cert-email> -expire-days <cert-days> -protocol SSL -hash-function SHA256 -vserver SQL-SVM
```

 To obtain the values for the parameters required in step 5 (<cert-ca> and <cert-serial>), run the security certificate show command. 6. Enable each certificate that was just created by using the -server-enabled true and -client-enabled false parameters. Use TAB completion to aid in the completion of these commands.

security ssl modify -vserver <clustername> -server-enabled true -client-enabled false -ca <cert-ca> serial <cert-serial> -common-name <cert-common-name>

7. Revert to the normal admin privilege level and set up the system to allow SVM logs to be available by web.

```
set -privilege admin
vserver services web modify -name spi|ontapi|compat -vserver * -enabled true
```

Storage for SQL Server Databases

Application administrator need access to SQL SVM to perform following tasks:

- Provisions storage for SQL Databases
- Backup, Restore, Clone and Protect SQL Databases

Create FlexVol Volumes for SQL Database and Logs

Create FlexVol volumes, by running the following commands. The information required to create a NetApp FlexVol volume is as follows:

- The volume name
- The volume size
- The aggregate on which the volume exists

Distribute SQL data and log volumes on two aggregates equally, to balance the performance and capacity utilization:

```
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_a -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 2TB -state online -
policy default -junction-path / sql_data_a -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_b -aggregate aggr1_node02 -size 2TB -state online -
policy default -junction-path / sql_data_b -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_a -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 800GB -state online -
policy default -junction-path /sql_log_a -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_b -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 800GB -state online -
policy default -junction-path /sql_log_b -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_b -aggregate aggr1_node02 -size 800GB -state online -
policy default -junction-path /sql_log_b -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
snapmirror update-ls-set -source-path SQL-SVM:rootvol
```

Create SQL Database and Log LUNs

To create SQL database and log LUNs, follow this step:

1. Create four LUNs for SQL databases and four LUNs for logs to map to Windows VMs, by running the following commands:

```
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_a -lun sql-db-1 -size 400GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_a -lun sql-db-2 -size 400GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_a -lun sql-db-3 -size 400GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_a -lun sql-db-4 -size 400GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_a -lun sql-log-1 -size 150GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_a -lun sql-log-2 -size 150GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
```

```
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_a -lun sql-log-3 -size 150GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
lun create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_log_a -lun sql-log-4 -size 150GB -ostype windows -space-
reserve disable
```

Create iSCSI LIFs

To create iSCSI LIFs, follow this step:

1. Create four iSCSI LIFs (two on each node), by running the following commands:

```
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif iscsi-lif01a -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-
node <a400-node01> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-iSCSI-A-id> -address <sql-svm-iscsi-lif01a_ip> -netmask
<iscsi_lif_mask> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif iscsi-lif01b -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-
node <a400-node01> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-iSCSI-B-id> -address <sql-svm-iscsi-lif01b_ip> -netmask <
iscsi_lif_mask > -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif iscsi-lif02a -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-
node <a400-node02> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-iSCSI-A-id> -address <sql-svm-iscsi-lif02a_ip> -netmask
<iscsi_lif_mask> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif iscsi-lif02a -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-
node <a400-node02> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-iSCSI-A-id> -address <sql-svm-iscsi-lif02a_ip> -netmask
<iscsi_lif_mask> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif iscsi-lif02b -role data -data-protocol iscsi -home-
node <a400-node02> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-iSCSI-B-id> -address <sql-svm-iscsi-lif02b_ip> -netmask <
iscsi_lif_mask > -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface show
```

Create NFS LIFs

To create NFS LIFs, follow this step:

1. Create two NFS LIFs (one on each node), by running following commands:

```
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif nfs-lif01 -role data -data-protocol nfs -home-node
<a400-node01> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-NFS-id> -address <sql-svm-nfs-lif02_ip> -netmask
<iscsi_lif_mask> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif nfs-lif02 -role data -data-protocol nfs -home-node
<a400-node02> -home-port a0a-<SQL-VM-NFS-A-id> -address <sql-svm-nfs-lif02_ip> -netmask
<iscsi_lif_mask> -status-admin up -failover-policy disabled -firewall-policy data -auto-revert false
network interface show
```

Add SVM Administrator

To add the infrastructure SVM administrator and SVM administration LIF in the out-of-band management network, follow these steps:

1. Run the following commands:

```
network interface create -vserver SQL-SVM -lif SQL-SVM-mgmt -role data -data-protocol none -home-node
<st-node01> -home-port e0c -address <SQL-SVM-Mgmt_ip> -netmask <SQL-SVM-Mgmt_mask> -status-admin up -
failover-policy system-defined -firewall-policy mgmt -auto-revert true
```

```
The SVM management IP in this step should be in the same subnet as the storage cluster management IP.
```

2. Create a default route to allow the SVM management interface to reach the outside world.

```
network route create -vserver SQL-SVM -destination 0.0.0.0/0 -gateway <svm-mgmt-gateway>
network route show
```

3. Set a password for the SVM vsadmin user and unlock the user.

```
security login password -username vsadmin -vserver SQL-SVM
Enter a new password: <password>
Enter it again: <password>
```

security login unlock -username vsadmin -vserver $\ensuremath{\texttt{SQL-SVM}}$



A cluster serves data through at least one and possibly several SVMs. We have just created a single SVM. If you would like to configure your environment with multiple SVMs, this is a good time to create additional SVMs.

Create Storage Volumes for Windows Virtual Machines (ESXi Datastore)

SVM for Windows Server 2019 VMs serves as a logical storage system for ESXi datastores, called Infrastructure SVM. Infrastructure SVM is managed by the Infrastructure admin, authorized to perform the following tasks:

- Provisions storage for ESXi datastores
- Backup and Restore VMs

Create Storage Volumes for Windows VMs Datastore and VM Swap Files

To create storage volumes for Windows VMs datastores and VM swap files, follow this step:

1. Create FlexVols for SQL Virtual Machine Datastores and Swap datastore, by running the following commands:

```
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_vms_ds1 -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 800GB -state online
-policy default -junction-path /sql_vms_ds1 -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_vms_ds2 -aggregate aggr1_node02 -size 800GB -state online
-policy default -junction-path /sql_vms_ds2 -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
volume create -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_vms_swap -aggregate aggr1_node01 -size 300GB -state online
-policy default -junction-path /sql_vms_swap -space-guarantee none -percent-snapshot-space 0
```

Schedule Deduplication

On NetApp AFF systems, deduplication is enabled by default. To schedule deduplication, follow this step:

1. After the volumes are created, assign a once-a-day deduplication schedule to volumes:

```
efficiency modify -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_a -schedule sun-sat@0
efficiency modify -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_data_b -schedule sun-sat@0
efficiency modify -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_vms_ds1 -schedule sun-sat@0
efficiency modify -vserver SQL-SVM -volume sql_vms_ds2 -schedule sun-sat@0
```

Gather Necessary Information

After the Cisco UCS service profiles have been created, each infrastructure server in the environment will have a unique configuration. To proceed with the FlexPod deployment, specific information must be gathered from each Cisco UCS server and from the NetApp controllers. Insert the required information into following tables.

To obtain the iSCSI IQN, run iscsi show command on the storage cluster management interface.

Table 6 iSCSI IQN, iSCSI LIFs, and NFS LIFs

IQN or LIF IP	Info
SQL-SVM IQN	
sql-svm-iscsi-lif01a_ip	

IQN or LIF IP	Info
sql-svm-iscsi-lif01b_ip	
sql-svm-iscsi-lif02a_ip	
sql-svm-iscsi-lif02b_ip	
sql-svm-nfs-lif01_ip	
sql-svm-nfs-lif02_ip	

VMware ESXi Host Configuration

This section describes the VMWare ESXi host specific configuration to be implemented on each ESXi host. These changes are required for achieving optimal system performance for SQL Server workloads.

Power Settings

An ESXi host can take advantage of several power management features that the hardware provides to adjust the trade-off between performance and power use. You can control how ESXi uses these features by selecting a power management policy.

ESXi has been heavily tuned for driving high I/O throughput efficiently by utilizing fewer CPU cycles and conserving power. Hence the Power setting on the ESXi host is set to "Balanced." However, for critical database deployments, it is recommended to set the power setting to "High Performance." Selecting "High Performance" causes the physical cores to run at higher frequencies and thereby it will have positive impact on the database performance. The ESXi host power setting is shown in the following figure:

Figure 14 ESXi Host Power Policy



ESXi Host Networking Configuration

This section provides more information about ESXi host network configuration for this FlexPod system hosting SQL Server virtual machines.

Note that the Cisco UCS LAN connectivity policy ensures that vNICs are presented to the ESXi in the same order that they are derived in the LAN connectivity policy. <u>Table 7</u> lists the order in which the vNICs will be mapped to the ESXi host physical adapters.

vNIC Name	ESXi Physical Adapter & Speed
00-vSwitch0-A	vmnic0, 20Gbps
01-vSwitch0-B	Vmnic1, 20Gbps
02-SQL-vDS-A	Vmnic2, 20Gbps
03-SQL-vDS-B	Vmnic3, 20Gbps
04-iSCSI-Boot-A	Vmnic4, 20Gbps
05-iSCSI-Boot-B	Vmnic5, 20Gbps

Table 7 UCSM vNICs to ESXi Physical Adapters Mapping

In this reference architecture, the infrastructure ESXi management VMkernel ports, the In-Band management interfaces including the vCenter management interface are left on vSwitch0 to facilitate bringing the virtual environment back up in the event it needs to be completely shut down. other infrastructure network traffics, like vMotion, NFS storage access along with SQL virtual machines management and in-guest storage networks are migrated to the VMware vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS). The vMotion VMkernel ports are moved to the vDS to allow QoS marking of vMotion to be done at the VLAN level in the vDS if vMotion needs to have QoS policies applied in the future. The following sections provides more details network configuration.

ESXi Host Management Network

A default standard virtual switch, vSwicth0, is created for managing the ESXi host management traffic. This switch is created using two physical network adapters vmnic0 and vmnic1 in active-active fashion. A default VMkernel adapter is assigned to this switch using the default "Management Network" port group. <u>Table 8</u> lists the details about the vSwicth0 and their port group details.

	9
Configuration	Details
Switch Name	vSwicth0
Number of physical Adapters (uplinks)	vmnic0 and vmnic1
MTU Setting	1500
	Port Groups created on this Standard Switch
Management Network	Purpose: For managing and accessing ESXi hosts
	Active Uplinks: vmnic0 and vmnic1
	VLAN: 113
	A VMkernel port (vmk0) is configured with appropriate IP addresses on each ESXI host.

Table 8	vSphere Stand	lard Switch and	Port Group	configuration f	for ESXi Host	Storage Traffi	C
	vopnoro otane		i ort aroup	ooningaradon i		otorugo mum	-

Configuration	Details
	MTU on the vmk0 : 1500
IB-MGMT (optional)	Purpose: For managing and accessing ESXi hosts for any other user groups/Applications Active Uplinks: vmnic0 and vmnic1 VLAN: 113

Figure 15 shows the vSwitch0 standard switch with vmnic0 and vmnic1 adapters configured in active-active fashion.

Figure 15 ESXi Host Management Network



ESXi iSCSI Storage Network

A default standard virtual switch, iScsiBootvSwitch, is created for accessing NetApp storage using iSCSI protocol. This switch is created using two physical network adapters vmnic4 and vmnic5. The storage traffic to NetApp storage array is divided in to two different fabrics via Fabric Interconnect A and B. Hence a separate port group is created for each fabric and allowing traffic on one vmnic adapter only. For instance, iScsiBootPG port group is configured with only vmnic4 adapter as active (vmnic5 is unused). Similarly, iScsiBootPG-B port group is configured with only vmnic5 adapter as active (vmnic4 is unused). This enables the storage traffic to be segregated on each fabric. Table 9 lists the details about the iSCSIBootvSwitch and their port group.

Table 9	vSphere Standard	Switch and Port	Group Configuration	for ESXi Host Storac	e Traffic
	vopnoro otanaara	owneed and 1 ore	aroup configuration		

Configuration	Details	
Switch Name	iScsiBootvSwitch	
Number of physical Adapters (uplinks)	Vmnic4 and vmnic5	
MTU Setting	9000	
Port Groups created on this Standard Switch		

Configuration	Details	
iSCSIBootPG	Purpose: For ESXi host boot from NetApp storage with iSCSI initiator via Fabric A.	
	Active Uplink: vmnic4	
	Unused Uplink: vmnic5	
	VLAN: NA (VLAN 3015 will be tagged at the UCSM vNICs as native VLAN, Refer "List of vNICs" table)	
	A VMkernel port (vmk1) is configured with appropriate IP addresses on each ESXI host.	
	MTU on the vmk1 : 9000	
iSCSIBootPG-B	Purpose: For ESXi host boot from NetApp storage with iSCSI initiator via Fabric B.	
	Active Uplink: vmnic5	
	Unused Uplink: vmnic4	
	VLAN: NA (VLAN 3025 will be tagged at the UCSM vNICs as native VLAN, Refer "List of vNICs" table)	
	A VMkernel port (vmk2) is configured with appropriate IP addresses on each ESXI host.	
	MTU on the vmk2 : 9000	

Figure 16 shows iScsiBootPG port group properties.

Figure 16 ESXi Host Management Network

Virtual switches			ADD NETWORKING	REFRESH
> Distributed Switch: SQL-vDS				
> Standard Switch: vSwitch0				
✓ Standard Switch: iScsiBootvSwitch	ADD NETWORKING	EDIT	MANAGE PHYSICAL ADAPTERS	
 iScsiBootPG VLAN ID: VMkernel Ports (1) vmk1 : 192.168.15.101 	···		Physical Adapters vmnic4 20000 Full vmnic5 20000 Full	
♀ iScsiBootPG-B VLAN ID:				
✓ VMkernel Ports (1) vmk2 : 192.168.25.101	🖻			

FlexPod VMware vSphere Distributed Switch for SQL and Other Infrastructure Management Traffic

In this reference architecture, the SQL virtual machine management traffic, SQL in-guest storage traffic, ESXi vMotion traffic and ESXi NFS based storage traffics are moved to the vDS switch. <u>Table 10</u> lists the details about the vDS switch and the different port groups created for each traffic type.

Table 10 vSphere Distributed Switch and Port Group Configuration

Configuration	Details

Configuration	Details
vDS Name	SQL-vDS
Number of uplinks	2 uplinks; vmnic2 (uplink1) and vmnic3 (uplink2)
MTU Setting	9000
	Distributed Port Groups created on this vDS
SQL-MGMT	Purpose: For managing and accessing SQL Server virtual machines.
	The uplinks are configured in Active-Active fashion so that both the uplinks will be used by SQL management traffic.
	VLAN: 905
SQL-Client	Purpose: For SQL Database traffic between SQL Server Database VMs and Clients.
	The uplinks are configured in Active-Active fashion so that both the uplinks will be used by SQL management traffic.
	VLAN: 1000
SQL-iSCSI-A	Purpose: For accessing NetApp storage from SQL virtual machines using in-guest software iSCSI initiator via Fabric A.
	This traffic is pinned to only uplink. Hence only uplink1 is configured as Active while the other uplink is unused.
	VLAN: 3015
SQL-iSCSI-B	Purpose: For accessing NetApp storage from SQL virtual machines using in-guest software iSCSI initiator via Fabric B.
	This traffic is pinned to only uplink. Hence only uplink2 is configured as Active while the other uplink is unused.
	VLAN: 3025
SQL-NFS	Purpose: For ESXi host storage access over NFS protocol. Datastores mounted on ESXi hosts for storing SQL virtual machines OS drives (.vmdk files)
	The uplinks are configured in Active-Active fashion so that both the uplinks will be used by ESXi host NFS storage traffic.
	VLAN: 3055
	A VMkernel port (vmk3) is configured with appropriate IP addresses on each ESXI host.
	MTU on the vmk3 : 9000
SQL-vMotion	Purpose: For virtual machine migration from one host to other.
	This traffic is pinned to Fabric B. Hence only uplink2 is configured as Active while the other uplink is unused.
	VLAN:3000
	A VMkernel port (vmk4) is configured with appropriate IP addresses on each ESXI host.

Configuration	Details
	MTU on the vmk4 : 9000

Figure 17 shows all the port groups configured on the SQL-vDS distributed switch on an ESXi host highlighting one of the SQL-iSCSI-B port group.

Figure 17 vDS Configuration



Verifying ESXi Host NetQueue Feature

As described in the Cisco UCS Manager <u>VMQ Policy</u> section, the VMQ policy (with 8 queues) is applied to the vmnic2 and vmnic3 physical adapters of ESXi host. <u>Figure 18</u> shows how to verify that the VMQ policy is applied properly on the ESXi (as NetQueue feature) and shows the number of transmit and receive queues available on each physical adapter that are part of SQL-vDS distributed switch.

Figure 18 ESXi NetQueue Feature Verification

[root@sql-esxi-3:~]	esxcli	system sett:	ings kern Bool	Iel list	grep	NetQueu	e TRHE	TDUE
ue support.			DOOL	INCL			INOL	TROL
[root@sql-esxi-3:~]								
[root@sql-esxi-3:~]	esxcli	network nic	queue co	ount get				
NIC Tx netqueue	count	Rx netqueue	count					
vmnic0	1		1					
vmnic1	1		1					
vmnic2	8		8					
vmnic3	8		8					
vmnic4	1		1					
vmnic5	1		1					
<pre>[root@sql-esxi-3:~]</pre>								

For more information about the ESXi NetQueue features, refer to: <u>https://docs.vmware.com/en/VMware-</u>vSphere/6.5/com.vmware.vsphere.networking.doc/GUID-6B708D13-145F-4DDA-BFB1-39BCC7CD0897.html

ESXi Host Logical Network Diagram

Figure 19 shows the logical network diagram of ESXi host depicting all the port groups and VMkernel adapters of the ESXi host described in the previous sections.





As shown in Figure 19, SQL Server virtual machines are configured with following networks:

- SQL-MGMT: Virtual Network Adapter connected to the SQL-MGMT port group and is used for SQL Server virtual machines management traffic and also used for SQL and Client communication.
- SQL-ISCSI-A: Virtual Network Adapter connected to the SQL-iSCSI-A port group and is used to connect to NetApp storage using in-Guest iSCSI initiator via Fabric-A.
- SQL-ISCSI-B: Virtual Network Adapter connected to the SQL-iSCSI-B port group and is used to connect to NetApp storage using in-Guest iSCSI initiator via Fabric-B.

SQL-MGMT network is used for both SQL guest management as well as the SQL Server-Client communication. Customers can create additional port groups with the appropriate VLAN to segregate SQL guest management traffic and SQL Server-Client traffic.

Provision ESXi Datastore for Windows Virtual Machines from vCenter VSC Plug-in (Virtual Storage Console)

Ensure the VSC 9.7 and VSC plug-in for vCenter are installed as described in the <u>NetApp Virtual Storage Console</u> (VSC) 9.7 <u>Deployment</u> section of the infrastructure CVD.

To provision the ESXi datastore for Windows Virtual Machines from the vCenter VSC plug-in, follow these steps:

1. Login to the vCenter Web UI Client and click Virtual Storage Console.

enu 🗸 🛛 🔍 Search in all			⋛ ⑦ v flex	xadmin@FLEXPOD.CI	SCO.COM ~
	SISCO.COM ~				
CPU 909.17 GHz 12.95 GHz used 922.1	free 11 GHz total	Memory 3.03 T 979.99 GB use	B free	Storage 14.18 T 4.79 TB used	B free
品 VMs		46	🛾 Hosts		1
42 Powered On Po	4	O	15 Connected	0 Disconnected	O
	wered on	Suspended		Disconnected	Maintenance
Objects with most	alerts	1	含 Installed I	Plugins	
Item	() Alerts	A Warnings	Snapcenter Plugin for VMware		
m nx-vc.flexpod.cisco.co 1 0			VMware vRops Client Plugin VMware vSAN H5 Client Plugin		
	Pru ∨ Q Search in al Home Pru ∨ Q Search in al Home Pru	enu ∨ Q Search in all environments Home Image: NX-VC.FLEXPOD.CISCO.COM ∨ CPU 909.17 GHz free 12.95 GHz used 922.11 GHz total Image: NK Image: VMs 42 4 Powered On Powered Off Image: Objects with most alerts Item Image: Objects content Item Image: Objects content	Prove Q Search in all environments Home Image: Additional system of the sy	Provide Q Search in all environments C Q flee Home Image: NX-VC.FLEXPOD.CISCO.COM Image: Comparison of the second seco	Pru v Q Search in all environments C Image: C <thimage: c<="" th=""> <thimage: c<="" th=""> <thi< td=""></thi<></thimage:></thimage:>

2. Click Provision.

vm vSphere Client	Menu 🗸 🛛 🔍 Search in all e	environments	C (?) ~ flexadmin@	
Virtual Storage Console Coverview Storage Systems Storage Capability Pr Storage Mapping Settings Reports Datastore Report Virtual Machine Rep vVol Datastore Rep	Virtual Storage Console <u>Getting Started</u> Traditional Virtual Storage Console for VM for virtual machines in VMware	Dashboard vVol Dashboard ware vSphere is a vCenter Sei environments using Netapp s	vCenter server <u>n</u> d rver plug-in that provides end- itorage systems	x-vc.flexpod.cisco.com v ⑦ v to-end lifecycle management Next Steps
vVol Virtual Machin	Discover Storage System	Add Storage System	Provision Datastore	View Dashboard View and monitor the datastores in Virtual Storage Console.
	Auto discovery of storage systems (Recommended) DISCOVER	Add storage systems to Virtual Storage Console.	Create traditional or vVol datastores. PROVISION	Settings Configure administrative settings such as credentials, alarm thresholds.
Recent Tasks Alarms				*

Figure 21 Provisioning Datastore with VSC

3. Browse to select an available ESXi cluster to provision the datastore.

Figure 22 Creating Volume with VSC

New Datastore				×
1 General 2 Storage system	General Specify the details of the datastore to Provisioning destination: *	provision.	BROWSE	Î
3 Storage attributes4 Summary	Type: * Name: * Size: *		<u> </u>	
	Protocol: *	NFS 3 NFS 4.1 Use storage capability profile for provisioning	CANCEL	NEXT

4. Select an appropriate ESXi cluster where the SQL VMs will be deployed in the new datastore.

nx-vc.flexpod.cisco.com FlexPod-DC mini-flexPod-Management SQL C125 mini-flexPod-Management NX-IOM	Bro	WS	e Destination	×
 FlexPod-DC FlexPod-Management SQL C125 NX-IOM 	nx-v	rc.fle	xpod.cisco.com	
 FlexPod-Management SQL C125 NX-IOM 	v F	Flex	Pod-DC	
 M SQL M C125 NX-IOM 	>		FlexPod-Management	
> (125 > (1) NX-IOM	>	۵	SQL	
> 🖾 NX-IOM	>		C125	
	>		NX-IOM	
				SELECT
SELECT				

Figure 23 Selecting ESXi Cluster on VSC

5. Fill in the name of datastore, size and. NFS protocol. Click Next.

Figure 2	24	Volume	Specifications
i iguio z		Volumo	opoonnoutiono

New Datastore			×
 General Storage system Storage attributes 	General Specify the details of the datast Provisioning destination: *	SQL BROWSE	Î
4 Summary	Name: * Size: *	• NFS • VVol sql_vm_ds1 800 GB	
	Protocol: *	 NFS 3 ○ NFS 4.1 ✓ Use storage capability profile for provisioning 	
		CANCEL	

6. Select the storage capability profile, storage system, and storage VM. Click Next.

New Datastore			×
1 General	Storage system Specify the storage capability pro	files and the storage system you v	want to use.
2 Storage system	Storage capability profile: *	Platinum	~
3 Storage attributes	Platform: All Flash FAS(AFF) Compression: Yes	Performance: None Deduplication: Yes	Tiering policy
4 Summary	Space reserve: Thin	Encryption: No	(FabricPool): Any
	Storage system: *	aa10-a400 (aa10-a400)	<u>v</u>
	Storage VM: *	sql-svm	<u> </u>
			CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 25 Volume QoS Specifications

7. Select attributes to provision the storage for FlexVol for the datastore. Click Next.

Figure 26 Selection of NetApp Attributes

New Datastore					×
1 General 2 Storage system	Storage attributes Specify the storage detain Aggregate:	Is for provisioning the datastore. aa10_a400_01_NVME_SSD_1_	<u>~</u>		
3 Storage attributes4 Summary	Volumes: Advance options are optimum results. 	Automatically creates a new volume.			
	Advanced options v Space reserve:	Thin	~		NEYT
				CANCEL BACK	NEXT

8. Review the Summary and click Finish.

Figure 27 Summary of NetApp Volume Creation using VSC

New Datastore						\times	
1 General 2 Storage system	Summary Provisioning destination: Datastore name:	SQL sql_vm_ds1				3	•
3 Storage attributes	Datastore size: Datastore type: Protocol:	800 GB NFS NFS 3					
4 Summary	Datastore cluster: Storage capability profile:	None Platinum					
	Storage system details Storage system:	aa10-a400					
	SVM:	sql-svm		CANCEL	ВАСК	FINISH	•

9. After acknowledging the start of the operation, track the progress in vCenter task view.

10. After task is complete, check the datastore configuration in the datastore view of vCenter.

Figure 28	Tracking Status	of Volume	Creation	using VSC
-----------	-----------------	-----------	----------	-----------

vm vSphere Client	Menu	✓ Q Sear	ch in all	environme	ents		C	⑦ ~ fi	exadmin@FLEXPOD.CIS0	со.сом 🗸	٢
	2	<pre>sql_vm_d</pre>	ls1	ACTIONS	~						
 infra_swap iom_datastore iom_fcp_datasto 	ore	Summary More	nitor	Configure Prope	Permis: rties	sions Files H	iosts VMs M	lore Objects			
iom_iscsi_dataste	ore	Alarm Defin Scheduled 1	itions Tasks	Nam	e		sql_vm_o	ds1			
iSCSI_1_1		General		Туре			NFS 3				
iscsi_1_2		Connectivity v Device Backir	with ng	Maxi	mum file siz	e.	15.97 TB				
iscsi_2_1		Hardware Acc	celer	Maxi	mum virtua	l disk size	15.81 TB				
NFS_1_1 NFS_1_2		Capability set	5	Capac	ity					REFRESH	٦.
NFS_2_1				Tota	Capacity		800 GB				-
NX_NFS_AUDIT_	_LO			Prov	isioned Spa	ce	292 KB				
☐ Software ☐ sql vm ds1				Free	Space		800 GB				-
Recent Tasks Alarms											*
Task Name 🗸 🔰	Target	~	Status	~	Deta v	Initiator 🗸	Server ~	Queued 🗸	Start Time	 Completion 	~
Create NAS datastore	sql-esxi	-3.flexpod.cisco	🗸 Cor	npleted		FLEXPOD\flex	nx-vc.flexpod.c	2 ms	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	*
Create NAS datastore	sql-esxi	-1.flexpod.cisco	✓ Cor	npleted		FLEXPOD\flex	nx-vc.flexpod.c	2 ms	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	
Create NAS datastore	sql-esxi	-4.flexpod.cisco	🗸 Cor	npleted		FLEXPOD\flex	nx-vc.flexpod.c	3 ms	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	
Create NAS datastore	🛾 sql-esxi-	-2.flexpod.cisco	🗸 Cor	npleted		FLEXPOD\flex	nx-vc.flexpod.c	3 ms	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	06/19/2020, 2:50:51 PM	
All 👻										More T	lasks

11. Repeat steps 1–10 for one more datastore and select a different aggregate to provision. It is better to distribute the VMs on two datastores residing on different aggregates, so the storage capacity and performance are balanced.

Creating and Deploying Virtual Machines for Hosting SQL Server Databases

This section describes the best practices and recommendations to create and deploy SQL Server Virtual Machines on the FlexPod system.

Cores per Socket

As long as the CPU and memory requirements of a virtual machine is within the single physical socket limits, you do not have to change the default settings "Cores per Socket." Only when the CPU and memory requirements of a virtual machine is beyond the single physical socket limits, make sure to equally distribute the CPU and memory resources of the virtual machine across the physical sockets.

Also, be careful when customers are using the SQL Server standard edition which supports lesser of 4-sockets or 24 cores. By default, Cores per Socket is set to one and thereby each vCPU is presented as a virtual socket to the virtual machine. For instance, when you assign 6 vCPUs to a virtual machine, the Guest Operating system will have 6 virtual sockets. While configuring vCPUs for virtual machines running SQL Standard edition, ensure that the virtual sockets do not go beyond 4 by adjusting Cores per Socket appropriately.

Memory Reservation

SQL Server database transactions are usually CPU and memory intensive. In a heavy OLTP database systems, it is recommended to reverse all the memory assigned to the SQL Virtual Machines. This makes sure that the assigned memory to the SQL VM is committed and will eliminate the possibility of ballooning and swapping from happening memory reservations will have little overhead on the ESXi system. For more information about memory overhead, refer to <u>Understanding Memory Overhead</u>.

Figure 29 shows a SQL Server Standard Edition virtual machine configuration; only two virtual sockets are configured by adjusting Cores per Socket setting and note that the Memory reservation box is checked.

irtual Hardware VM Options	
	ADD NEW DEVIC
✓ CPU [*]	<u>12 ~</u>
Cores per Socket	6 V Sockets: 2
CPU Hot Plug	Enable CPU Hot Add
Reservation	0 MHz ~
Limit	Unlimited MHz V
Shares	Normal V 12000
CPUID Mask	Expose the NX/XD flag to guest V Advanced
Hardware virtualization	Expose hardware assisted virtualization to the guest OS
Performance Counters	Enable virtualized CPU performance counters
I/O MMU	Enabled
✓ Memory *	GB ~
Reservation	32768 MB ~
	Reserve all guest memory (All locked)

Figure 29 Cores per Socket and Memory Reservation

Network Adapter Type

It is highly recommended to configure the virtual machine network adaptors with "VMXNET3." VMXNET 3 is the latest generation of Paravirtualized NICs designed for performance. It offers several advanced features including multi-queue support, Receive Side Scaling, IPv4/IPv6 offloads, and MSI/MSI-X interrupt delivery.

For this solution, each is SQL virtual machine is configured with three network adapters with VMXNET3 as adapter type. One adapter is connected to the "SQL-MGMT" port group for virtual machine management and SQL access, and the second and third network adapters are connected to the "SQL-iSCSI-A" and "SQL-iSCSI-B" port group respectively. These adapters are used for direct NetApp storage access using third-party software for iSCSI initiator on fabric A and B respectively. Figure 30 shows the SQL virtual machine is configured with three adapters.

		ADD NEW DEVIC
> SCSI controller 1	VMware Paravirtual	
> Network adapter 1	SQL-MGMT ~	Connect
> Network adapter 2	SQL-ISCSI-A V	Connect
 Network adapter 3 	SQL-ISCSI-B ~	
Status	Connect At Power On	
Port ID	74	
Adapter Type	VMXNET 3 v	
DirectPath I/O	C Enable	
MAC Address	00:50:56:84:e7:e0 Automa	itic v
> CD/DVD drive 1	Client Device 🗸	Connect

Figure 30 Virtual Machine Network Adapter Type and Configuration

Installing Guest Operating System

This section provides the details about the configuration recommendations for Windows Guest Operating System for hosting SQL Server databases.

For a detailed step-by-step process to install Windows Server 2019 Guest Operating System in the virtual machine, please refer to the <u>VMWare documentation</u>.

When the Windows Guest Operating System is installed in the virtual machine, it is highly recommended to install VMware tools as explained <u>here.</u>

Guest Power Settings

The default power policy option in Windows Server 2019 is "Balanced." This configuration allows Windows Server OS to save power consumption by periodically throttling power to the CPU and turning off devices such as the network cards in the guest when Windows Server determines that they are idle or unused. This capability is inefficient for critical SQL Server workloads due to the latency and disruption introduced by the act of powering-off and powering-on CPUs and devices.

For SQL Server database deployments, it is recommended to set the power management option to "High Performance" for optimal database performance as shown in <u>Figure 31</u>.

Figure 31 Windows Guest Power Settings

🔁 Administrator: Windows PowerShell
PS C:\Users\Administrator> PS C:\Users\Administrator> PS C:\Users\Administrator> PS C:\Users\Administrator> powercfg -1 Existing Power Schemes (* Active)
Power Scheme GUID: 381b4222-f694-41f0-9685-ff5bb260df2e (Balanced) * Power Scheme GUID: 8c5e7fda-e8bf-4a96-9a85-a6e23a8c635c (High performance) Power Scheme GUID: a1841308-3541-4fab-bc81-f71556f20b4a (Power saver) PS C:\Users\Administrator> PS C:\Users\Administrator> powercfg -s 8c5e7fda-e8bf-4a96-9a85-a6e23a8c635c PS C:\Users\Administrator> PS C:\Users\Administrator> powercfg -1 Existing Power Schemes (* Active)
Power Scheme GUID: 381b4222-f694-41f0-9685-ff5bb260df2e (Balanced) Power Scheme GUID: 8c5e7fda-e8bf-4a96-9a85-a6e23a8c635c (High performance) * Power Scheme GUID: a1841308-3541-4fab-bc81-f71556f20b4a (Power Saver) PS C:\Users\Administrator> _

Adding Guest VM to the Domain

It is recommended to change the default Windows Guest VM name and join it to the domain before proceeding with the storage configuration inside the guest virtual machine. For detailed instructions about how to change the Guest name and join the Guest, click <u>here</u>.

Using the server manager, enable the Remote Desktop feature to remotely manage the Guest VM remotely and turn off the firewalls inside the guest VM. <u>Figure 32</u> shows the final configuration after joining SQLVM3 to the flexpod.cisco.com domain, enabling Remote Desktop, turning off the firewall settings and corresponding IP addresses of management and iSCSI storage interfaces.





Storage Configuration Inside SQL Virtual Machines

This section details the Guest configuration for jumbo frames, installation and configuration of multipath software, and iSCSI initiator configuration to connect NetApp AFF A400 storage LUNs.

Enabling Jumbo Frames on Storage Network Interfaces

Enabling jumbo frames on the storage traffic provides better IO performance for SQL Server databases. In SQL Guest, make sure that jumbo frames are set to 9000 on the Ethernet Adapter which is used for in-guest iSCSI storage as shown in Figure 33.



Figure 33 Setting Jumbo Frames on Guest Storage Interfaces

When enabling jumbo frames, make sure the virtual machine is able to reach storage with maximum packet size (8972 bytes) without fragmenting the packets as shown in <u>Figure 34</u>.



```
:\Users\flexadmin>
 :\Users\flexadmin>
 :\Users\flexadmin>ping 192.168.15.151 -1 8972 -f -S 192.168.15.22
Pinging 192.168.15.151 from 192.168.15.22 with 8972 bytes of data:
Reply from 192.168.15.151: bytes=8972 time<1ms TTL=64
Reply from 192.168.15.151: bytes=8972 time<1ms TTL=64
Ping statistics for 192.168.15.151:
Packets: Sent = 2, Received = 2, Lost = 0 (0% loss),
Approximate round trip times in milli-seconds:
   Minimum = 0ms, Maximum = 0ms, Average = 0ms
Control-C
:\Users\flexadmin>ping 192.168.25.151 -1 8972 -f -S 192.168.25.22
Pinging 192.168.25.151 from 192.168.25.22 with 8972 bytes of data:
Reply from 192.168.25.151: bytes=8972 time<1ms TTL=64
Reply from 192.168.25.151: bytes=8972 time<1ms TTL=64
Reply from 192.168.25.151: bytes=8972 time<1ms TTL=64
Ping statistics for 192.168.25.151:
   Packets: Sent = 3, Received = 3, Lost = 0 (0% loss),
Approximate round trip times in milli-seconds:
   Minimum = Oms, Maximum = Oms, Average = Oms
Control-C
:\Users\flexadmin>_
```

Multipath Software Configuration

NetApp recommends using Windows native multipath drivers for managing storage connections inside the Windows server 2019 Guest VM. Install the Windows native Multipath drivers; <u>Figure 35</u> shows installing Multipath IO feature using PowerShell. Also, enable Microsoft Device Specific Module (MSDSM) to automatically claim SAN disks for Microsoft Multipath I/O (MPIO) for iSCSI bus type. Restart the virtual machine after the configuration.

Figure 35	Installing Multipat	h IO Drivers and En	abling iSCSI Devices
PSC:\Us	ers\flexadmin>	Install-Windows	Feature -Name multipath-io
Success	Restart Needed	Exit Code	Feature Result
True WARNING:	Yes You must resta	SuccessRest art this server	{Multipath I/O} to finish the installation process.
PS C:∖Us	ers\flexadmin>	Enable-MSDSMAut	comaticClaim -BusType iSCSI_

After enabling the MPIO feature in Windows, download and install the NetApp Windows Unified Host Utilities on the virtual machine. To download and install the host utilities, follow these steps:

1. Download the NetApp host utilities v7.1 for Windows from this link:

https://mvsupport.netapp.com/documentation/productlibrary/index.html?productID=61343

- 2. Unzip the file and run the executable file. The NetApp Windows Unified Host Utilities setup wizard is launched and click Next.
- 3. Click Yes, install support for Multipath IO and click Next.
- 4. Accept the default destination folder and click Next.
- 5. Click Next and the click Install to start the installation of host utilities.
- 6. After the installation is complete, click Finish and restart the computer.

After virtual machine is restarted, verify that appropriate device drivers are added in the MPIO utility as shown in Figure 36.

Figure 36 Verifying the MPIO Setting

/IPIO Propert	ies		×	MPIO Properti	es		
MPIO Devices	Discover Multi-Paths	DSM Install	Configuration Snapshot	MPIO Devices	Discover Multi-Paths	DSM Install	Configuration Snapsh
To add supp Product Ids a Devices can To remove si then click Re	ort for a new device, cli as a string of 8 characte be specified using semi- upport for currently MPI move.	ck Add and er rrs followed by colon as the d IO'd devices, s	ater the Vendor and y 16 characters. Multiple lelimiter. select the devices and	SPC-3 com	oliant ardware Id		
Devices: Device Har MSFT2005i NETAPP LU	dware Id SCSIBusType_0x9 JN			Add su	oport for iSCSI devices		Add
NETAPP LU NETAPP LU Vendor 8Pr	JN FlashRay roduct 16			Others Device H	ardware Id		
		Add	Remove				Add
			OK Cancel				OK Cance

Configuring In-Guest Software iSCSI Initiator

This section provides the steps to configure the in-guest iSCSI initiator for virtual machines to directly access the NetApp storage LUNs.

To configure the in-guest iSCSI initiator, follow these steps:

1. Start the Microsoft iSCSI Initiator service and set it to start automatically as shown below. Get the virtual machine initiator ID name and make a note of it since you will need it for granting the NetApp storage LUN access to the guest virtual machine.

Figure 37 Starting iSCSI Initiator

С

2. Open NetApp ONTAP System Manager and create an initiator group using the iSCSI initiator name as previously noted and is shown below:

Figure 38 Creating iSCSI Initiator Group in the NetApp System Manager

Add	Initiator Group	
NAME		
SQL	-VM2	
HOST OF	PERATING SYSTEM	
Wind	ows 🗸	
	Initiator	
	iqn.1991-05.com.microsoft:sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco	
+ Ac	dd Initiator	
	Cancel Save	

3. When the initiator group for the virtual machines is created, assign the LUNs to the initiator group. The LUN sql_db_5 assigned to the sql-vm2 initiator group Is shown below:

sql_o	db_5			
DESCRIP	PTION			
STORAGE	E VM			
sql-svi	m			
tora	ge and Optimization			
APACITY				
400.1	GB 🗸			
_				
Th	in provisioning			
Th	in provisioning			
ost li	in provisioning nformation			
OST II	in provisioning nformation			
OST II	In provisioning	LUN ID	Туре	
Th ost II ST MAPP	In provisioning	LUN ID	Type Windows	
Th ost II ST MAPPI •	In provisioning ING Initiator Group SQL-VM1 SQL-VM2	LUN ID 0	Type Windows Windows	
Th ost II ST MAPPI	In provisioning	LUN ID 0	Type Windows Windows	
Th ost II ST MAPPI	In provisioning Information ING SQL-VM1 SQL-VM2 ASSOCIATED INITIATORS Iqn.1991-05.com.microsoftsql-v	0 m2.flexpod.cisco.com	Type Windows Windows	
Th ost II ST MAPP	In provisioning Information ING Initiator Group SQL-VM1 SQL-VM2 ASSOCIATED INITIATORS iqn.1991-05.com.microsoft:sql-v	0 vm2.flexpod.cisco.com	Type Windows Windows	
Th ost II ST MAPP	In provisioning Information ING SQL-VM1 SQL-VM2 ASSOCIATED INITIATORS Iqn.1991-05.com.microsoft:sql-v SQL-VM3	0 vm2.flexpod.cisco.com	Type Windows Windows Windows	
The ost II	In provisioning Information ING SQL-VM1 SQL-VM2 ASSOCIATED INITIATORS Iqn.1991-05.com.microsoft:sql-v SQL-VM3 COLUMN	0 m2.flexpod.cisco.com	Type Windows Windows Windows	

Figure 39 Mapping iSCSI LUNs to the Initiator Group Edit LUN

4. When the LUN access is granted to the virtual machine, open the iSCSI initiator inside the Guest VM. On the Discovery tab, click the Discover Target Portal. In the Discover Target Portal, add the target IP address. Repeat this step to include all the target IP addresses as shown below:

×

Figure 40 Adding iSCSI Target IPs

iSCSI Init	iator Proper	ties				\times					
Targets	Discovery	Favorite Targets	Volumes and Devices	RADIUS	Configuration						
Targe The s	t portals system will loo	ok for <u>T</u> argets on	following portals:		R <u>e</u> fresh						
Addr	ess	Port	Adapter	IP ac	ddress						
192.	168.15.151	3260	Microsoft iSCSI Initiator	192.	168.15.22						
192.	168.15.152	3260	Microsoft iSCSI Initiator	192.	168.15.22						
192.	168.25.151	3260	Microsoft iSCSI Initiator	192.	168.25.22						
192.	168.25.152	3260	Microsoft iSCSI Initiator	192.	168.25.22						
To ac	To add a target portal, click Discover Portal. Discover Portal										
To re then	move a targ click Remove	et portal, select th 	e address above and		<u>R</u> emove						
iSNS s The s	ervers system is reg	istered on the foll	owing <u>i</u> SNS servers:		Re <u>f</u> resh						
Nam	e										
To ac	ld an iSNS se	rver, dick Add Se	rver.	Ad	d Server						
To re then	move an iSN click Remove	S server, select th	e server above and		Re <u>m</u> ove						

5. Select the Target tab. You will see the NetApp device target IQN under Discovered Targets as shown below:

iSCSI Initiator Properties \times Targets Discovery Favorite Targets Volumes and Devices RADIUS Configuration Quick Connect To discover and log on to a target using a basic connection, type the IP address or DNS name of the target and then click Quick Connect. Quick Connect... Target: Discovered targets Refresh Name Status iqn. 1992-08.com.netapp:sn.b4f0779393f511eaa807d03 < > To connect using advanced options, select a target and then Connect click Connect. To completely disconnect a target, select the target and Disconnect then click Disconnect. For target properties, including configuration of sessions, select the target and click Properties. Properties... For configuration of devices associated with a target, select Devices... the target and then click Devices.

Figure 41 Discovered Target Device

- 6. Click Connect to establish an iSCSI session with the discovered NetApp device. In the Connect to Target dialog box, select Enable multi-path checkbox. Click Advanced. In the Advanced Settings dialog box, complete the following steps:
 - a. On the Local Adapter drop-down list, select Microsoft iSCSI Initiator.
 - b. On the Initiator IP drop-down list, select the IP address of the SQL Guest.
 - c. On the Target Portal IP drop-down list, select the IP of Target interface.
 - d. Click OK to return to the Connect to Target dialog box.

Figure 42 Verifying iSCSI Initiator to Target Connections

- e. Click OK to return to the iSCSI Initiator Properties dialog box.
- f. Repeat these steps for all the initiator and target IPs combination.
- 7. When all the required Initiator and Target connections are established successfully, you can verify the connections by using the following PowerShell command:

PS C:\Users\Administr	rator> Get-IscsiConnection
ConnectionIdentifier	: ffffd182b3ada010-0
InitiatorAddress	: 192.168.15.22
InitiatorPortNumber	: 194
TargetAddress	: 192.168.15.152
TargetPortNumber	: 3260
PSComputerName	:
ConnectionIdentifier	: ffffd182b3ada010-1
InitiatorAddress	: 192.168.15.22
InitiatorPortNumber	: 450
TargetAddress	: 192.168.15.151
TargetPortNumber	: 3260
PSComputerName	:
ConnectionIdentifier	: ffffd182b3ada010-2
InitiatorAddress	: 192.168.25.22
InitiatorPortNumber	: 706
TargetAddress	: 192.168.25.152
TargetPortNumber	: 3260
PSComputerName	:
ConnectionIdentifier	: ffffd182b3ada010-3
InitiatorAddress	: 192.168.25.22
InitiatorPortNumber	: 962
TargetAddress	: 192.168.25.151
TargetPortNumber	: 3260
PSComputerName	:
PS C:\Users\Administr	rator> _

8. Open the Disk management and initialize and format the disks with the NTFS file system and 64K allocation unit size. Under Disk Management, right-click the Disk and select Properties. In the NetApp LUN C-Mode Multi-Path Disk Device Properties dialog box, click the MPIO tab. You should see four storage connections being established; two being Active/Optimized and other two being Active/Unoptimized. These represent the path states defined by the SCSI ALUA (Asymmetric Logical Unit Access) protocol, with the Active/Optimized path being the path to the primary storage controller for the LUN and the Active/Unoptimized being the path to the HA partner controller. The virtual machine using disk management tool is shown below:

📅 Disk Managem	nent			<u> </u>						-	- 🗆	×
File Action Vi	iew Help				ΝΕΤΔΡΡΙΙΙΝ	C-Mode Mu	lti-Path (Disk Dev	ice Prone	rties	×	
🔶 🏟 🔤 🚺	🗖 🗩 🗹 🛙	5				e mode ma		JISK DCT	iceriope	in the s	~	
Volume	Layout	Туре	File System	n Status	General Pol	cies Volume:	s MPIO	Driver	Details	Events		
💻 (C:)	Simple	Basic	NTFS	Healthy (I	Select the N	PIO policy:	Round	Robin W	ith Subset		\sim	
🛲 SQLDATA (E:)	Simple	Basic	NTFS	Healthy (I	Description							
- SQLLOG (F:)	Simple	Basic	NTFS	Healthy (I	The mund	mbin with out	oot policy	over ter	the mund	l mhin nalia	u ophu	
System Reserve	d Simple	Basic	NTFS	Healthy (S	on paths of paths will b active/opt	lesignated as a be tried on a ro imized paths.	ictive/opt und-robin	imized. T approact	he non-ac h upon fail	tive/optimi: ure of all	zed	
Disk 0					DSM Name:	Microsoft D	SM			De	tails	
Basic	System Reserv	ved		(C:)								
60.00 GB	549 MB NTFS	59.46 GB NTFS	This <u>d</u> evice	has the followi	ng paths:							
Unline	Healthy (Systen	n, Active, Prima	ary Partitio	Healthy (Boot	Path Id	Path S	tate	TPG	TPG St	ate	v ^	
					77040000	Active	/Optimi	1001	Active/	Optimized		
Bick 1					77040002	Active	/Optimi	1001	Active/	Optimized		
Basic	SOLDATA (E)				77040001	Active	/Unopti	1000	Active/	Unoptimize	a ~ ~	
400.06 GB	400.05 GB NTFS	5			<						>	
Online	Healthy (Prima	ry Partition)			To edit the p path and clic	ath settings fo k Edit.	the MPIC) policy, s	select a	E	dit	
- Dist. 2					To apply the	path settings a	and select	ted MPIO	policy,	A	ply	
Basic	SOLLOG (E)				CIICK Apply.							
150.02 GB	150.02 GB NTFS	5										
Online	Healthy (Prima	ry Partition)							OK		Cancel	
CD-ROM 0]	_
	Deine and a settle in a											
 Unallocated 	Primary partition	1										

Figure 43 Disks in the Disk Management Tool

Installing SQL Server and Configuration Recommendations

There are many recommendations and best practices guides available for most of SQL Server settings. But the relevance of these recommendations may vary from one database deployment to another. It is recommended to thoroughly test and validate the critical settings and determine whether or not to implement the specific database environment. The following sections describe some of the key aspects of the SQL Server installation and configurations, which have been used and tested on the FlexPod system. The rest of the SQL Server settings are kept at default and used for performance testing.

Microsoft SQL Server 2019 Installation

This section provides a high-level installation process. For the detailed step-by-step installation for SQL Server 2019 on a Windows Operating system, refer to the Microsoft document: <u>Install SQL Server from the Installation</u> <u>Wizard (Setup)</u>.

To install the Microsoft SQL Server 2019, follow these steps:

1. On the Server Configuration window of SQL Server installation, make sure that the instant file initialization is enabled by enabling the checkbox as shown below. This makes sure the SQL server data files are instantly initialized avowing zeroing operations.

📸 SQL Server 2019 Setup				- [; ב
Server Configuration					
Specify the service accounts an	nd collation configuration.				
Global Rules	Service Accounts Collation				
Microsoft Update Install Setup Files	Microsoft recommends that you	use a separate account for each	SQL Server serv	ce.	
Install Rules	Service	Account Name	Password	Startup T	/pe
Installation Type	SQL Server Agent	FLEXPOD\flexadmin	•••••	Manual	~
Product Key	SQL Server Database Engine	FLEXPOD\flexadmin	•••••	Automati	- ~
Lizenza Terma	SQL Server Browser	NT AUTHORITY\LOCAL		Automati	· ·
License remis					
Feature Selection					
Feature Selection Feature Rules	Grant Perform Volume Mainte	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser	ver Database En	gine Service	
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration	Grant Perform Volume Mainte	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zero	ver Database En oing of data pag	gine Service Jes. This may I	ead
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by a	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zero llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pa <u>c</u> ccessed.	gine Service Jes. This may I	ead
Feature Selection Feature Rules nstance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant t to information disclosure by al <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zer llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pa <u>c</u> :cessed.	gine Service Jes. This may I	ad
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by al <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zer llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pa <u>c</u> :cessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	ad
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Ready to Install	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by al <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zer llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pa <u>c</u> :cessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	ad
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by al <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zer llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pa <u>c</u> :cessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	zad
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by al <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zer llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pag ccessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	ead
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by a <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Sen file initialization by avoiding zen llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pag ccessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	ad
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by a <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zer llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pag ccessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	ead
Feature Selection Feature Rules Instance Configuration Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Feature Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Grant Perform Volume Mainte This privilege enables instant f to information disclosure by a <u>Click here for details</u>	nance Task privilege to SQL Ser file initialization by avoiding zero llowing deleted content to be ac	ver Database En oing of data pa <u>c</u> ccessed.	gine Service Jes. This may l	ead

Figure 44 Enabling Instant File Initialization of Database Files

2. In the Database Engine Configuration window under the TempDB tab, make sure the number of TempDB data files are equal to 8 when the vCPUs or logical processors of the SQL VM is less than or equal to 8. If the number of logical processors is more than 8, start with 8 data files and try to add data files in the multiple of 4 when the contention is noticed on the TempDB resources. The following diagram shows that there are 8 TempDB files chosen for a SQL virtual machine which has 8 vCPUs. Also, as a best practice, make sure the TempDB data and log files are two different volumes.

SQL Server 2019 Setup			- 0	
Database Engine Cor	figuration			
Specify Database Engine aut parallelism, Memory limits, a	hentication security mode, nd Filestream settings.	administrators, data directories, TempDB, Max degree of		
Global Rules	Server Configuration	Data Directories TempDB MaxDOP Memory FILESTREAM		
Vicrosoft Update nstall Setup Files	TempDB data files:	tempdb.mdf, tempdb_mssql_#.ndf		
nstall Rules	Number of files:	8		
nstallation Type Product Key		8 Total initial size (MB): 64		
icense Terms	Autogrowth (MB):	64 Total autogrowth (MB): 512		
eature Selection	Data directories:	E:\TempDB	Add	
eature Rules			<u></u> 00	
nstance Configuration			<u>R</u> emove	
Server Configuration				
Oatabase Engine Configuration				
eature Configuration Rules				
leady to Install	TempDB log file:	templog.ldf		
nstallation Progress	Initial <u>s</u> ize (MB):	8 Setup could take longer with large initial size.		
Complete	Autogrowth (MB):	64		
	Log directory:	F:\TempLog		
		C Back Nevt >	Cance	al

Figure 45 TempDB Files Configuration

Enable Lock Pages in Option Memory for SQL Server

To enable the lock pages, follow these steps:

1. Make sure to add SQL Server service account is added to "Lock Pages in Memory" policy using the Windows Group Policy editor. Granting the Lock pages in memory user the right to the SQL Server service account prevents SQL Server buffer pool pages from paging out by the Windows Server.

Figure 46 Enabling Lock Pages in Memory Obtion For SUL Se	Server
---	--------

Local Group Policy Editor			Lock pages in memory Properties	?	×
File Action View Help					
🗢 🄿 🙋 📊 🗙 🗐 🛛	🗟 🛛 🔽		Local Security Setting Explain		
🗐 Local Computer Polic 🔺	Policy	Security Setting	Lock pages in memory		
V 👰 Computer Config	Impersonate a client after authentication	LOCAL SERVICE, NET			
> Software Setti	🔯 Increase a process working set	Users			
V Windows Sett	🔯 Increase scheduling priority	Administrators, Wind			
Scripts (St	Load and unload device drivers	Administrators	FLEXPOD flexadmin		
> Deployed	Lock pages in memory	FLEXPOD\flexadmin			
Security Se	🔯 Log on as a batch job	Administrators, Backu			
> 🔂 Accou	Log on as a service	FLEXPOD\flexadmin,			
🗸 🔂 Local F	Manage auditing and security log	Administrators			
> 🔂 Au	📓 Modify an object label				
> 📴 Use	🔯 Modify firmware environment values	Administrators			
> 🔀 Sec	Obtain an impersonation token for anot	Administrators			
> 📫 Windo	🔯 Perform volume maintenance tasks	NT SERVICE\MSSQLS			1
📫 Netwo	🔯 Profile single process	Administrators	Add User or Group Remove		
> 🧮 Public	📓 Profile system performance	Administrators,NT SE			
> 🔄 Softwa	Remove computer from docking station	Administrators			
> Applic	🤤 Replace a process level token	LOCAL SERVICE, NET			
> 🛃 IP Sect	Restore files and directories	Administrators, Backu			
> Advan	📓 Shut down the system	Administrators, Backu			
Administrativ	Synchronize directory service data				
	Take ownership of files or other objects	Administrators			
< >	<		OK Cancel	Арр	bly

2. A domain account is used as a SQL Server service account which is not a member of the local administrator group, then add SQL Server service account to the "Perform volume maintenance tasks" policy using the Local Security Policy editor.

Max Memory Setting

The SQL Server can consume all the memory allocated to the VM. Setting the Maximum Server Memory allows you to reserve sufficient memory for Operating System and other processes running on the VM. Ideally, you should monitor the overall memory consumption of SQL Server under regular business hours and determine the memory requirements. To start, allow the SQL Server to consume about 80 percent of the total memory or leave at least 2–4GB memory for Operating system. The Maximum Server Memory setting can be dynamically adjusted based on the memory requirements.

Number of Data luns and Database Files

For user databases that have heavy DML operations, it is recommended to create multiple data files of the same size in order to reduce the allocation contention.

If there are high IO demanding workload deployments, use more than one LUN for keeping the database data files. The database performance of such deployments may hit by the queues depths defined at the LUN level both in ESXi environment as well storage level. ONTAP supports a queue depth of 2048 per controller. Queue depths for each client should be configured such that the total possible outstanding commands from all clients does not exceed this limit. For this validation, queue depths were not modified from OS defaults.

For additional SQL Server configuration recommendations, refer to the <u>VMware Architecting Microsoft SQL Server</u> on <u>VMware vSphere® Best Practices Guide</u>.

SnapCenter Configuration for SQL Database Backup, Restore, Cloning and Protection

SnapCenter configuration to prepare for SQL Database operation, includes adding hosts, configuring hosts, provisioning storage to hosts for SQL data and logs, provisioning storage to hosts for SnapCenter logs, creating SQL database resource group(s), and creating backup schedule policy.

Add Hosts (Windows VMs) to SnapCenter

When Hosts are added to SnapCenter, SnapCenter Plug-in for SQL Server and SnapCenter Plug-in for Windows are installed on the host.

To add hosts, follow these steps:

1. Launch SnapCenter Web UI, and login using user account with administrator privilege to SnapCenter.

SnapCenter®				flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	Sign Out
	Status Get Started					
				L	ast refreshed: 06/20/20	20 02:32 PM
Dashboard						^
Resources	RECENT JOB ACTIVITIES		ALERTS			
Monitor	Backup Completed [Job ID: 1059] sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com.sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.co	12 h ago		🕴 0 Critical 🛛 🛕 0 Wa	rning	- 11
Reports	Backup Completed [Job ID: 1045] sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com,sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.co	2 d ago				
Hosts	Backup Completed [Job ID: 1029] sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com,sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.co	3 d ago		No data available		
Storage Systems	Backup Completed [Job ID: 1012] sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com,sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.co	4 d ago				
Settings	Backup Completed [Job ID: 999] sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com,sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.co	5 d ago				
Alerts	Backup Completed [Job ID: 826] sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com,sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.co	5 d ago				
	See All		See All			
	LATEST PROTECTION SUMMARY		Marrie COI Casar	JOBS	Last 7 da	
		Secon	darv	Pasture	Last / da	y5 •
	Primary	SnapVault	SnapMirror	Баскор	uestore cione	
	25% Protected #Databases	09 Protec ≠Data	6 ted bases	c	88% ompleted	
k	Failed: 0 Not configured: 24 Successful: 8 Not initiated: 0	Failed: 0 Not configu	red: 8 Successful: 0	• Failed: 1 = Warning: () Completed: 7 Runnir	ig: 0

Figure 47 NetApp SnapCenter Dashboard

2. Click the Hosts view and click New.

Figure 48	Viewing the Exis	sting SQL Hosts ir	NetApp SnapCenter
-----------	------------------	--------------------	-------------------

	SnapCenter®					• •	? -	1 flexpod.cisco.	com\flexadmi	n SnapC	enterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
<		Manag	ed Hosts Disks Shares Ini	tiator Groups	iSCSI Session							
	Dashboard	Sear	th by Name								ative dry	Hore
0	Resources		Name Li	Туре	System	Plug	in		v	ersion	Overall S	itatus
-	Monitor		nx-scv.flexpod.cisco.com	vSphere	Stand-alone	VMw	are vSphe	re	4	.3	Runn	iing
M	Reports		sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	osoft Wind Gerver	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ling
٨	Hosts		sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	soft Wind Server	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ing
ł	Storage Systems		sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	osoft Wind Gerver	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ing
	Settings		sql-vm4.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	soft Wind Server	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ing
	Alerts		sql-vm5.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	osoft Wind Gerver	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	iing
			sql-vm6.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	osoft Wind Gerver	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ing
			sql-vm7.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	soft Winc Server	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ing
			sql-vm8.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-alone	Micro SQL S	soft Wind Server	lows Server, Micros	oft 4	.3.1	Runn	ing
		Total 9										

3. Select Host Type Windows, enter the Host Name or IP address and select one of the credentials of administrator user. Select Microsoft Windows and Microsoft SQL Server plug-ins. Optionally, select the port, and/or install path for the plug-in on the host. Total 9

1 2	SnapCe	enter®			٠		9-	1 flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmi	n SnapCe	enterAdmin	🖡 Sign
>	Man	aged Hosts									
	Se	earch by Name		Add Ho	ost						
v		Name	Æ		Host	t Type	Windo	ws	•]	
		nx-scv.flexpod.cisco.com			Host	Name	sql-vn	111]	
-		sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com			Crede	entials	FlexPo	d Admin	¥	+	
a al		sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com								£3.	
Å		sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com		Select	Plug-ins	to	SnapCen	ter Plug-ins Package 4.3.1 P1 for			
		sql-vm4.flexpod.cisco.com		Install			windows	5) 			
1		sql-vm5.flexpod.cisco.com					Micr	rosoft Windows			
=		sql-vm6.flexpod.cisco.com					Micr	rosoft SQL Server			
A		sql-vm7.flexpod.cisco.com					Micr	rosoft Exchange Server			
		sql-vm8.flexpod.cisco.com		🌣 Mor	re Optio	ns : Po	L SAP	HANA Path, Custom Plug-Ins			

4. After host is added, it will display in the list of Managed Hosts as shown below. Repeat steps 1–3. Newly added hosts will require you to configure the directory for SnapCenter logs for that host.

It is recommended to have a directory for SnapCenter logs on NetApp storage. Prior to configuring the directory for SnapCenter logs, you should provision the storage (LUNs) to the Windows host by following the steps in section <u>Provision storage to Windows VMs using SnapCenter</u>.

	Dashboard	Se	arch by Name				Add Rer	nove Refresh More
2	Resources		Name JE	Туре	System	Plug-in	Version	Overall Status
D	Monitor		nx-scv.flexpod.cisco.com	vSphere	Stand- alone	VMware vSphere	4.3	Running
4	Reports Hosts		sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running
•	Storage Systems		sql-vm11.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Configure log directory
	Settings		sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running
-			sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running
			sql-vm4.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running
			sql-vm5.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running
			sql-vm6.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand- alone	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running
			sql-vm7.flexpod.cisco.com	Windows	Stand-	Microsoft Windows Server, Microsoft SQL Server	4.3.1	Running

Figure 50 Viewing Newly Added SQL VM Host

5. Click any of the host names and it will display the Host Details. Click Configure Log Directory.

SnapCenter®						•		8-	▲ flexpod.ci	sco.com\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🗊 Sign Out
>	Man	aged Hosts									×	
	Search by Name			Host Details					Checker			Configuration
v		Name	臣	Host Name	sql-vm2.flexpod.o	cisco.co	m					
		nx-scv.flexpod.cisco.com		Host IP	192.168.95.22					Alerts		
		sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com		Overall Status	Configure log of the second	director	y				No Alerts	
âŭl		sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com		Host Type	Windows						Noracia	
A		sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com		System	Stand-alone							
24		sql-vm4.flexpod.cisco.com		Credentials	FlexPod Admin							
-		sql-vm5.flexpod.cisco.com			SnapCenter Plug-	ins pac	kage 4.3.	1.4218				
		sql-vm6.flexpod.cisco.com		Plug-ins	for Windows							
A		sql-vm7.flexpod.cisco.com			🗸 Microsoft Win	idows						
		sql-vm8.flexpod.cisco.com			✓ Microsoft SQL	. Server	Remov	e				
					Rentering of	rectory	U					
				More Options : Po	rt, Install Path, Ad	d Plug-I	ns					
				Submit Cancel	Reset							
	Tota	19		<								>

Figure 51 Configuring SnapCenter Log Directory for SQL VM Host

6. Browse to select the SnapCenter Log directory. The log directory should have been created on the drive.

Configure Plug-	in for SQL Server		×
Configure the log	backup directory for sql-vm2.flexpod.	cisco.com	
Configure host log	directory		
Host log directory	L:\logdir	Browse	
Choose directory	on NetApp Storage		
🖕 sql-vm2.flexpoo	.cisco.com		
C:\			
🖿 E:\			
🖿 F:\			
🗁 L:\			
III 5	RECYCLE-BIN		
5	ogdir		
S	ystem Volume Information		
		Save	Close

Figure 52 Select LUN for SnapCenter Log Directory

7. The Windows Host is ready for SnapCenter to provision more storage to the host and backup the SQL databases managed by the SQL server running on the host.

Provision Storage to Windows VMs using SnapCenter

SnapCenter can only provision storage LUNs (disk) to Windows VMs that are added to SnapCenter as detailed in the <u>Add Hosts (Windows VMs) to SnapCenter</u> section.

To provision the LUNs (Disks) for SnapCenter log, SQL Database and SQL Logs to the Windows VM, follow these steps:

1. From the SnapCenter Hosts view, click the Disks tab. From the Host drop-down list, select the host you want to provision the storage. Click New to start disk creation wizard.



Figure 53 Provisioning SnapCenter LUN to SQL VM Host

 Select storage SVM from the Storage System drop-down list. Browse to select the LUN path (Flex volume on SVM). Enter the LUN name. Select the cluster (block) size for Windows File System format, and the label for the Windows File System.

Figure 54 SnapCenter Log LUN Specifications

Create Disk						2
1 LUN Name	Provide your Sto	prage System and LUN path information				
2 Disk Type	Storage System	aa10-sql-svm.flexpod.cisco 👻				
3 Drive Properties	LUN path	/nx_snapctr_logdir	Clear	Browse	0	
4 Map LUN	LUN Name	sql-vm2-logdir	Clear	0		
	Cluster size	16 • KB				
S Group Type	LUN label	logdir ×				
6 Summary						
					Previous	Next

3. For the disk type, select Dedicated, Shared disk, or Cluster Shared Volume (CSV).

Figure 55 SnapCenter Log LUN Access Type

- 4. Assign drive letter or mount point for the Windows file system mount.
- 5. Enter drive size and select partition type.

Figure 56 Assigning Drive Letter and Size Specification of SnapCenter Log LUN

Create Disk						×			
1 LUN Name	Provide drive type	e, size, and partition	type						
2 Disk Type	Choose drive type								
3 Drive Properties	O Auto assign mo	unt point							
4 Map LUN	Assign drive let O Use volume mo	ter L:	•						
5 Group Type O Do not assign drive letter or volume mount point									
6 Summary	Choose drive size								
	LUN size	30	GB ▼						
	Use thin provis	ioning for the volume he	osting this LUN						
	GPT partition								
	 MBR partition MBR partitioned LUNs might cause misalignment issues in Microsoft cluster configurations. 								
					Previous	ext			

 Select the initiator to map the LUN (disk). The Initiator already configured on the Windows host is displayed. The iSCSI IQN is available to select after the Software iSCSI initiator is configured on the host, as detailed in section <u>Configuring in-quest software iSCSI initiator</u>.
Create Disk		x
1 LUN Name	Choose host initiator O Fibre Channel	^
2 Disk Type		
3 Drive Properties		
4 Map LUN	● iscsi	
5 Group Type	🖌 iqn.1991-05.com.microsoft:sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com	~
		Previous Next

Figure 57 Selecting In-Guest iSCSI Initiator of SQL VM Host for SnapCenter LUN Mapping

7. When the first LUN (disk) is being provisioned to the Windows Host, select Create new iGroup for selected initiators and provide an iGroup name.

For subsequent disk provisioning to the same host, type the first few letters of the known iGroup for the host and names of all existing iGroups beginning with the entered pattern will display in the drop-down list. The names of the iGroups created by SnapCenter follows the pattern Sdwlgroup<VmName> as shown below.

8. Select the existing iGroup name for the host.

Figure 58 Subsequent Disk Provisioning iGroup Specification to the Same Host

Create Disk			x
1 LUN Name	Select initiator group man	agement type to map the LUN	
2 Disk Type	Create new iGroup for se	elected initiators	
3 Drive Properties	Igroup name	SdwigroupSQL-VM2	0
4 Map LUN		L	
5 Group Type			
6 Summary			
			Previous

9. Review the Summary and click Finish to complete the disk creation task.

2 Disk Type	Summary	
	Mount Point	L
Drive Properties	Disk Type	Dedicated disk
4 Map LUN	LUN path	/nx_snapctr_logdir/sql-vm2-logdir
	LUN label	logdir
5 Group Type	LUN size	30 (GB)
5 Summary	,	

Figure 59 Summary of SnapCenter Log LUN Provisioning

10.SnapCenter will create a LUN on SVM on the NetApp Storage, rescan the disks on the Windows Host, create partition, format file system, and mount at provided Drive letter or Mount Point.

Create Resource Groups

Resource groups are groups of SQL databases and corresponding logs that are backed up together. A backup policy is associated with the resource group to back up the SQL databases and retain a certain number of backups as defined in the policy.

To create resource groups, follow these steps:

 Launch SnapCenter Web UI. Select Resources view and from the drop-down list select Database. All databases of SQL server instances running on all added hosts will be displayed. Other resource types are SQL Server "Instance", SQL Server "Availability Group" (AG) and SnapCenter "Resource Group".

SnapCenter®						flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin Sign Out
	Mic	rosoft SQL Serve	er 📩				
Dashboard	View	Database 🔹	search by name			Refres	h Resources New Resource Grou
Resources		Database	Instance	Host	Last Backup	Overall Status	Туре
Monitor		Availability Group	sql-vm1	sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
Reports		Resource Group	sql-vm1	sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
		msap	sql-vm1	sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
nosis		tempdb	sql-vm1	sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com		Not available for backup	System database
Storage Systems		tpcc	sql-vm1	sql-vm1.flexpod.cisco.com	06/20/2020 2:30:06 AM	Backup succeeded	User database
Settings		master	sql-vm2	sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
Alerts		model	sql-vm2	sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
		msdb	sql-vm2	sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
		tempdb	sql-vm2	sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com		Not available for backup	System database
		tpcc	sql-vm2	sql-vm2.flexpod.cisco.com	06/20/2020 2:30:05 AM	Backup succeeded	User database
		master	sql-vm3	sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
		model	sql-vm3	sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
		msdb	sql-vm3	sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com		Not protected	System database
		tempdb	sql-vm3	sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com		Not available for backup	System database
		tpcc	sql-vm3	sql-vm3.flexpod.cisco.com	06/20/2020 2:30:05 AM	Backup succeeded	User database
	Total			1 10 1 1			e . 1.1
	- Otal						
Activity The 5 mo	ost recer	nt jobs are displayed	S Comple	eted 🛛 📣 0 Warnings 🛛 🗙 0 Failed	d 🙋 0 Canceled 📀 0	Running 💿 0 Queued	

Figure 60 Viewing Resources in SnapCenter

2. Decide which user databases need to be backed up in a group, so they can be added into a single resource group.

3. Select Resource Group from the View drop-down list. Click New Resource Group.

		0100	ining ito		up doing one	*P 0 0	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,						
	SnapCent	er®				•		0- 1	flexpod.cisco.com\fle	xadmin	SnapCenterAd	lmin 🕻	Sign Out
<			Microsoft SQ)L Server 💌									-
	Dashboard		View Res	ource Group 🔹	search by name	3	7					New	Resoluce Group
0	Resources		🏓 Na	me	Resource Count	Tags			Policies	Las	st Backup	Overall	Status
۲	Monitor		tpc	c-all	8	tpcc			daily-full	06/20/2	020 2:3	Comple	ted
ŵ	Reports												
Å	Hosts												
ł	Storage Sy	stems											
霊	Settings												
▲	Alerts		Total 1										
Acti	vity	The 5 mo displayed	st recent jobs	are			✓ 5	Completed Canceled	0 Warnings	20 F	Failed eued		^

Figure 61 Creating Resource Group using SnapCenter

4. Enter the name of the new resource group, any tag for the group and custom name format, if required. The custom name format can contain the resource group name, policy name, schedule name and any custom text entered in the dialog shown below:

Sr	napCenter®			⊠ 0-	L flexpod.cisco.com\flexac	lmin SnapCenterAdmin	🛛 🗊 Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	New Resource Group					×
	search by name						
0	🐺 Name		2	3	4	5	6
۲	tpcc-all	Name	Resources	Policies	ventication	NOTIFICATION	mmary
ណ៍		Provide a nar	me and tags fo	r the resour	ce group		
Å		Name	tpcc1234	6			0
łe –		Tags	cvd-test				0
=		Use custom r	name format for S	napshot copy			
A		\$ResourceG	iroup × [\$Policy >	ScheduleTy	/pe × 【\$CustomText ×】		
		rtp-ds					×
	Total 1					Pr	evious Next
Activit	y The 5 most recent jobs are displayed	S Completed	🙆 0 Warning	gs 🔀 O Fa	iled 🧭 0 Canceled (💿 0 Running 🛛 🗐 0 (Queued

Figure 62 Resource Group Specifications

5. Select specific or all hosts, resource type databases, and SQL server instance name from the drop-down list. From the list of databases, select the user databases to add into resource group.

I Sr	napCenter®	🌲 🛛 🚱 + 上 flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin SnapCenterAdmin 🖡 Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	New Resource Group
	search by name	
0	Name	
۲	tpcc-all	Name Resources Policies Verification Notification Summary
ណ៍		Add resources to Resource Group
Å		Host Resource Type
20		All Databases Coll Server Instance
		sq-vm1
		Available Resources Selected Resources
44		search available resources
		☑ Auto select all the resources from the same storage
		volume () master (sql-vm1) model (sql-vm1) tpcc (sql-vm1) () ()
	Total 1	Previous Next
Activit	y The 5 most recent jobs are displayed	🥪 5 Completed 🔺 0 Warnings 🗙 0 Failed 🔗 0 Canceled 📀 0 Running 🧐 0 Queued 🤸

Figure 63 Selecting SQL VM Hosts for the Resource Group

6. Select more databases from the different SQL Server instances if needed, to add those into the same resource group to backup simultaneously according to same policy and schedule.

Figure 64 Selecting Database for Resource Groups

SnapCenter®	🏚 🔤 🥹 🕹 flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin SnapCenterAdmin 🖡 Sign
Microsoft SQL Server 🔽	New Resource Group
tpcc	
🛃 Name	
tpcc	Name Resources Policies Verification Notification Summary
tpcc	Add resources to Resource Group
tpcc	Host Resource Type
tpcc	All Databases
tpcc	SQL Server Instance
tpcc	sql-vm8 👻
tpcc	Available Resources Selected Resources
tpcc	search available resources
	volume master (sql-vm8) model (sql-vm8) msdb (sql-vm8) tpcc (sql-vm1) tpcc (sql-vm2) tpcc (sql-vm4) > > tpcc (sql-vm3) tpcc (sql-vm4) > (sql-vm8) tpcc (sql-vm3) (sql-vm8) (sql-vm8) (sql-vm8)
Total 8	Previous
ity The 5 most recent jobs are dis	splayed 🛛 😪 5 Completed 🔺 0 Warnings 🗙 0 Failed 🖉 0 Canceled 📀 0 Running 💿 0 Queued

7. Select one or more policies from the drop-down list of available policies or create new policies by clicking '+'.

٦ S	napCenter®	🌲 🐸 🚱 - 🗜 flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin SnapCenterAdmin 🖡 Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	New Resource Group
	search by name	
0	Name	
٠	tpcc-all	Name Resources Policies Venication Notification Summary
ណ៍		Select one or more policies and configure schedules
Å		daily-full 🔹 🕂 🟮
} ••		Configure schedules for selected policies
#		Policy IL Applied Schedules Configure Schedules
		daily-full None
		Total 1
	Total 1	Previous Next

Figure 65 Selecting Policies for Resource Group

New SQL Server Backup Policy

To create a new SQL server backup policy, follow these steps:

1. In New SQL Server Backup Policy for Resource Group enter a policy name and description. Click Next.

Figure 66 New Backup Policy Name Details

New SQL Serve	er Backup Policy			×
1 Name	Provide a polic	name		
2 Backup Type	Policy name	daily-full		0
3 Retention	Description	Daily Full Backup	×	
4 Replication				
5 Script				
6 Verification				
7 Summary				
				_
			Previous	Next

2. Select Backup type and the frequency of the backup. Click Next.

New SQL Serv	er Backup Policy	×
1 Name	Select SQL server backup options	1
2 Backup Type	Choose backup type	
3 Retention	O Full backup and log backup	
4 Replication	Full backup Deg backup	
5 Script	Copy only backup	
6 Verification	Maximum databases backed up per Snapshot copy: 100	
7 Summary	Availability Group Settings 🗸 🗸	
	Schedule frequency	
	Select how often you want the schedules to occur in the policy. The specific times are set at backup job creation enabling you to stagger your start times.	
	O None	
	O Hourly	
	Daily Weekly	
	Previous Next	

Figure 67 New Backup Policy Specifications

3. Select the retention setting for up-to-the-minute restore operation. Click Next.

Name	Retention settings			
2 Backup Type	Retention settings for up-to-the-minute	restore operation	0	
3 Retention	O Keep log backups applicable to last	7	full backups	
4 Replication	Keep log backups applicable to last	14	days	
Script				
Verification	Full backup retention settings ()			
Summary	Daily			1
	Total Snapshot copies to keep	7		
	Keep Snapshot copies for	14	days	
				N
				42

Figure 68 New Backup Policy Retention Period Settings

4. Select a replication option, policy label, and enter a number for the retry count for replication attempts. Click Next.

New SQL Serve	r Backup Policy	×
1 Name	Select secondary replication options ()	
2 Backup Type	☑ Update SnapMirror after creating a local Snapshot copy.	
3 Retention	Update SnapVault after creating a local Snapshot copy.	
4 Replication	Secondary policy label Daily The first count	
6 Verification		
7 Summary		
	Previous	t

Figure 69 New Backup Policy Specifications

5. Enter the details of the scripts you want to run before and after backup. Click Next.

New SQL Serve	r Backup Policy	×
1 Name	Specify optional scripts to run before performing a backup job	
2 Backup Type	Prescript full path C:\scripts\pre-sql-backup.ps1	
3 Retention	Prescript arguments ServerInstance × SDatabase ×	
4 Replication	Postscript full path c:\scripts\post-sql-backup.ps1	
5 Script	Postscript arguments ServerInstance × SDatabase ×	
6 Verification	Script timeout 60 secs	
7 Summary		
	13	

Figure 70 Pre and Postscripts For New Backup Policy Specifications

6. Enter the verification schedule details. Click Next.

Figure 71 Frequency of Backup For New Backup P	'olicv
--	--------

Add Verification Schedules	×
Run verification after backup Run scheduled verification Monthly	•
Verify on secondary storage location ()	
	$\Box_{\mathcal{S}}$
	Cancel OK

7. Review the Summary of the tasks and click Finish.



New SQL Server Backup Policy ×						
1 Name	Summary					
2 Backup Type	Policy name	daily-full				
2 Potention	Description	Daily Full Backup				
Siketendon	Backup type	Full backup				
4 Replication	Availability group settings	Backup only on preferred backup replica				
	Schedule Type	Daily				
5 Script	UTM retention	Delete Snapshot copies older than : 14 days				
6 Verification	On demand Full backup retention	Total backup copies to retain : 7				
_	Daily Full backup retention	Delete Snapshot copies older than : 14 days				
7 Summary	Replication	none				
	Backup prescript settings	none				
	Backup postscript settings	none				
	Verification for backup schedule type	Daily				
	Verification prescript settings	none				
	Verification postscript settings	none				
			2			
			Previous Finish			

8. Select a Verification server from the drop-down list Click Next.

Sr	napCenter®		• •	8 0 -	L flexpod.cisco.com\flexa	idmin SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	New Resource Group					×
	search by name			-			
U	🐺 Name	0	2	-3-		- 5 - 6)
۲	tpcc-all	Name F	resources	Policies	ventication	Notification Summ	ary
M		Select the verifi	cation servers				^
Å		Verification server	sql-vm11(15.0.	2000)	•		
}e							
		Configure verifi	cation schedule	S			
Δ		Policy 🛓	Schedule Type	Appl	ied Schedules	Configure Schedules	
A		daily-full	Daily	None		*	
		Total 1					
	Total 1					Prev	ious Next
Activit	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed	S Completed	(A) 0 Warnings	🗙 0 Faile	d 🥝 0 Canceled (🗿 0 Running 💿 0 Que	ued 🔨

Figure 73 Specifying Verification SQL VM Host and Scheduling Configuration

9. Enter a start date, time, and Expires on if it's required to end the backup schedule on a specific day and time.

Figure 74 Setting Start Time and Expiry Dates

05/29/2020 2:30 AM 06/28/2020 3:39 PM	-	
06/28/2020 3:39 PM	-	
1 days		
		5
are triggered in the SnapCen	ter Server tin	ne zone. 🗙
	are triggered in the SnapCen	are triggered in the SnapCenter Server tim

10. Add more policies if needed, then click OK.

Sr	napCenter®		🗧 🚱 🖌 🗜 flexpod.cisco.ci	om\flexadmin SnapCenterAdmin	🗊 Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	Modify Resource Group			×
	search by name				
U	📮 Name		3 4	5 6	
	tpcc-all	Name Resources	Policies Verification M	Notification Summary	
11	tpcc1234	Select one or more policies and c	onfigure schedules		
Å		daily-full, weekly-full	· + 0		
ł.		Configure schedules for selected	policies		
#		Policy IL	Applied Schedules	Configure Schedules	
▲		daily-full	Daily: Repeat every 1 days	/ X	
		weekly-full	Weekly: Run on days: Saturday	/ ×	
		Total 2	0		
	Total 2			Pre	vious Next
Activit	y The 5 most recent jobs are displayed	🥪 4 Completed 🛛 🔺 1 Warning	🗙 0 Failed 🛛 🔗 0 Canceled 🛛 🤇	🗿 0 Running 💿 0 Queued	^

Figure 75 Adding Additional Scheduling Policies

11. In Add Verification Schedules; choose either Run verification after backup or Run scheduled verification and choose a time from the drop-down list. Click OK.

Figure 76	Specifying	Verification	Schedule
-----------	------------	--------------	----------

	lies		
Run verification after backup	>		
O Run scheduled verification	Monthly	-	
Verify on secondary storage	location 🚯		

12. To configure Notification, enter the email details and select if the job report should be attached notification emails. Click OK.

Sr	napCenter®				8-	▲ flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	New Resource Group						×
	search by name				-		•	
0	Name		2			4		6
٠	View job, schedule, event, and log information	Name Kes	sources		Policies	s ventication in	lotification	summary
ííí		Provide email set	tings 🐧					
A		Select the service acco	ounts or p	eople to	notify r	egarding protection issues.		
24		Email preference	On failu	ure or w	arning o	r canceled 🔹		
-		From	snapce	enter@n	x-flexpo	d.cisco.com		
		То	jogeory	g2@cisc	o.com			
		Subject	SnapCe	enter - E	ackup fa	allure or warning or cancellation n	otification	
		Attach job report						
	Total 1						Pr	evious Next
https://r	nx-snapctr.flexpod.cisco.com:8146/Jobs e displayed	S Completed	0 Warn	ings	🗙 0 F	ailed 🙆 0 Canceled 📀	0 Running 🍥	Queued 🔨

Figure 77 Configuring Notifications

13. Review the Summary and click Finish.

Figure 78 Summary of Resource Group

Sr	napCe	nter®		•			L flexpod.cisco.com\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdm	in 🔋 Sign Out
>	Micro	osoft SQL Server 💌	New Resource Group	1					×
	sea	arch by name							
U		Name	0-	2		-3		-0	-6
٢		tpcc-all	Name	Resources		Policies	Ventication	Notification	Summary
ŵ			Resource g	roup name	tpo	c1234			^
A			Tags		cvd	-test			
34			Policy		dai	ly-full: Dail	У		
-			Plug-in		Sna	ipCenter P	lug-in for Microsoft SQL Server		
#			Verification	Server	sql	vm11			
A			Verification	enabled for policy	dai	ly-full: Dail	У		
			Send email		Yes				~
	Total	1						P	revious Finish
Activit	у	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed	S Comple	eted 🙆 0 Warr	nings	🗙 0 Fa	ailed 🥝 0 Canceled 📀	0 Running 💿	0 Queued

14. Repeat steps 1-13 if you require additional resource groups .

🖬 Sn	apCe	enter®		٠		0	flexpod.cisco.co	om\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
> ^	Microsoft SQL Server 💌		tpcc1234Details							×
	sea	arch by name	search			F	4	i		
0		Name	Modify Resource Group	Back	up Now	Cione Lifecyc	de Maintenance	Edit/View Details	Delete	
		tpcc-all	Resource Name		Туре		Host			
~		tpcc1234	tpcc (sql-vm1)		SQL E	Database	sql-vm1.flexp	od.cisco.com		
ííí			tpcc (sql-vm2)		SQL D	Database	sql-vm2.flexp	od.cisco.com		
A			tpcc (sql-vm3)		SQL D	Database	sql-vm3.flexp	od.cisco.com		
×	Total	2	tpcc (sql-vm4)		SQL D	Database	sql-vm4.flexp	od.cisco.com		
Activit	y	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed			e e	5 Complet 0 Cancele	ted 🔔 0 Wa ed 💿 0 Runr	rnings 🔀 Ning 🎯 0	0 Failed Queued	× ^

Figure 79 Resource Groups

Verify on Demand Backup of SQL Databases

The resource group of SQL databases should have an on-demand backup for the resource group.

To trigger an on-demand backup, follow these steps:

- 1. Launch SnapCenter Web UI. Select Resources view. Click a Resource group.
- 2. Click Backup Now.

Figure 80 Triggering Backup Using Resource Group

🖬 Sn	apCer	nter®		٠		0-	1 flexpod.cisco.co	om\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🗊 Sign Out
> ^	Microsoft SQL Server 💌		tpcc1234Details							×
	sear	rch by name	search	(2	F	4	i	1	
0		Name	Modify Resource Group	Back	up Now	Cione Lifecy	cle Maintenance	Edit/View Details	Delete	
		tpcc-all	Resource Name		Туре		Host			
~		tpcc1234	tpcc (sql-vm1)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm1.flexp	od.cisco.com		
ííí			tpcc (sql-vm2)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm2.flexp	od.cisco.com		
*			tpcc (sql-vm3)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm3.flexp	od.cisco.com		
	Total	2	tpcc (sql-vm4)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm4.flexp	od.cisco.com		
Activit	y	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed			e e	5 Comple 0 Cancele	ted 🍐 0 Wa ed 📀 0 Runr	rnings 🗙 ning 🏐 0	0 Failed Queued	▶ ^

3. Select a policy to use for the on-demand backup. Select Verify after backup and then click Backup.

Configuration

Resource Group tpcc1234	
Policy daily-full 👻 🚺	
☑ Verify after backup □ Verify on secondary	

Figure 81 Selecting On-Demand Backup time and Verification settings

4. Verify the activity status of the triggered backup job as shown below:

Sr	napCente	r®			♦ ⊠	€ + L flexpod	.cisco.com\flexadm	in SnapCenterAdmir	n 🗊 Sign Out
>	Microsoft	SQL Server 💌	tpcc1234Details						×
	search b	by name	search		Madify Resource	e Group Back up Now	Clone Lifecycle	Maintenance	tails Delete
0	Na	ime	Resource Name	Туре	Host				
	tpo	cc-all	tpcc (sql-vm1)	SQL Database	sql-vm1	.flexpod.cisco.com			
	tpo	c1234	tpcc (sql-vm2)	SQL Database	sql-vm2	flexpod.cisco.com.			
â			tpcc (sql-vm3)	SQL Database	sql-vm3	l.flexpod.cisco.com			
٨			tpcc (sql-vm4)	SQL Database	sql-vm4	l.flexpod.cisco.com			
} 4									
蒜									
A	Total 2								
Activit	ty Th	e 5 most recent jobs are displayed	🔗 4 Completed	(A) 0 Warnings	🗙 0 Failed	Ø 0 Canceled	0 1 Running	စြာ Queued	~
a few se	conds ago	Backup of Resource Group 'tpcc1	234' with policy 'daily-full'						Running O
3 hours	ago	Restore 'sql-vm3\tpcc'							Completed 🗸
20 hour	's ago	Backup of Resource Group 'tpcc-	all' with policy 'daily-full'						Completed 🗸
2 days a	ago	Backup of Resource Group 'tpcc-	all' with policy 'daily-full'						Completed 🗸
3 days a	go	Backup of Resource Group 'tpcc-	all' with policy 'daily-full'						Completed 🖌

Figure 82 Backup Status of Resource Group

Verify SQL Database Restore from Backup

The section describes the steps to restore the SQL database from backup using NetApp SnapCenter.

Before proceeding, ensure that the backup of the SQL databases Resource group has already been created using SnapCenter.

To restore from database backup, follow these steps:

1. Launch SnapCenter Web UI. Select Resources view. Click a resource view and then click a resource group name.

Figure 83 Resources View

🖬 Sn	apCe	nter®		٠		0- .	1 flexpod.cisco.co	om\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
> ^	Microsoft SQL Server 💌		tpcc1234Details							×
	sea	irch by name	search			P	4	i	-	
0		Name	Modify Resource Group	Back	up Now	Cione Lifecyd	cle Maintenance	Edit/View Details	Delete	
		tpcc-all	Resource Name		Туре		Host			
~		tpcc1234	tpcc (sql-vm1)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm1.flexp	od.cisco.com		
ííí			tpcc (sql-vm2)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm2.flexp	od.cisco.com		
A			tpcc (sql-vm3)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm3.flexp	od.cisco.com		
	Total	2	tpcc (sql-vm4)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm4.flexp	od.cisco.com		
Activit	/	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed			e e	5 Comple 0 Cancele	ted 🍐 0 War ed 💿 0 Runn	rnings X ing 🧐 0 (0 Failed Queued	× ^

2. Click the name of a database resource to restore from a backup.

🔳 Sn	арСе	enter®		•		0- 1	flexpod.cisco.co	m\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🗊 Sign Out
>	Micr	osoft SQL Server 💌	tpcc1234Details							×
	se	arch by name	search			F	a.	6	_	
0		Name	Modify Resource Group	Back up	Now	Clone Lifecycle	e Maintenance	Edit/View Details	Delete	
		tpcc-all	Resource Name	٦	Гуре		Host			
•		tpcc1234	tpcc (sql-vm1)	S	SQL Da	atabase	sql-vm1.flexpo	od.cisco.com		
ай (tpcc (sql-vm2)	S	QL D	atabase	sql-vm2.flexpo	od.cisco.com		
A			tpcc (sel-vm3)	S	QL Da	atabase	sql-vm3.flexpo	od.cisco.com		
50			tpcc (sql-vm4)	S	SQL Da	atabase	sql-vm4.flexpo	od.cisco.com		
÷										
A										
	Tota	12								
Activit	y	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed			e	5 Complete 0 Cancelec	ed 🍐 0 War I 📀 0 Runn	nings X ing 🎯 0 (0 Failed Queued	^

Figure 84 Resources View

3. The list of backups for the selected resource is displayed. Click the name of the backup to restore the database from.

SnapCenter®		• =	0- ⊥ fi	expod.cisco.com	n\flexadmin SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
· ·	tpcc1234Details	tpcc (sql-vm3) Topology				×
	search			ſ	i 🗸 ()	=
0	Resource Name	Manage Copies		Coner	instyce model deales	NEITEST
~	tpcc (sql-vm1)					
	tpcc (sql-vm2)	5 Backups			Summary Car	ď
а́й	tpcc (sql-vm3)	0 Clones			5 Backups	
Α.	tpcc (sql-vm4)	Local copies			0 Clones	
34						
#		Primary Backup(s)				
A		search 🛛			Rename Clone	estree Delete
		Backup Name	Count	Туре	l∓ End Date	Verified
		tpcc-all_sql-vm3_Daily_06-20-2020_02.30. 01.8663	1	Full backup	06/20/2020 2:30:05 AM 🛱	Ø Verified
		tpcc-all_sql-vm3_Daily_06-19-2020_02.30. 08.4235	1	Full backup	06/19/2020 2:30:46 AM 🛱	Ø Verified
		tpcc-all_sql-vm3_Daily_06-18-2020_02.30. 08.8276	1	Full backup	06/18/2020 2:30:06 AM 🛱	() Verified
		tpcc-all_sql-vm3_Daily_06-17-2020_02.30. 06.6674	1	Full backup	06/17/2020 2:30:40 AM 🛱	Ø Verified
		tpcc-all_sql-vm3_Daily_06-16-2020_02.30. 06.7550	(1)	Full backup	06/16/2020 2:30:11 AM 🛱	Ø Verified
<		Total 5				>
Activity The 5 most recen	nt jobs are displayed 🧹 5 Comp	oleted 🦲 0 Warnings 🔀 0 Failed	0 Canc	eled 📀 O F	tunning 🥘 0 Queued	^

Figure 85 Select the Backup to Restore Database

4. Select the host where the database is restored.

Configuration

Restore		×
1 Restore scope	Restore database files using	
2 Recovery Type	Restore the database to the same host where the backup was created	
3 Pre Ops	O Restore the database to an alternate host ()	
4 Post Ops	 Restore the database using existing database files 1 	
5 Notification		
6 Summary		
	Previous	Next

Figure 86 Resources Host Selection

5. Select the desired recovery of logs from backup

Figure 87	Choose Log Backup Recovery	

Restore		×
Restore scope	Choose logs	
2 Recovery Type	Choose log backups duration	
3 Pre Ops	 All log backups By log backups until 	
4 Post Ops	O By specific date until	
5 Notification		
6 Summary	No log backup is found. "None" is selected.	
	Previo	ous Nex

6. Select the pre restore options for the database and the optional script to run before restoring from the backup.

Restore		×
Restore scope	Pre restore options	
2 Recovery Type	 Overwrite the database with same name during restore Retain SQL database replication settings 	
3 Pre Ops	 Create transaction log backup before restore Quit restore if transaction log backup before restore fails 	
4 Post Ops	Specify optional scripts to run before performing a restore job	
5 Notification	Script full path sql-vm3-pre-restore.ps1	
6 Summary	Script arguments \$Database * \$ServerInstance *	
	Script timeout 60 secs	
	Prev	vious Next

Figure 88 Pre restore Database Options

7. Select the post restore options for the database and the optional script to run after restoring from the backup.

Figure 89 Post Restore Database Options

Restore							×	
1 Restore scope	Post restore optio	ns						
2 Recovery Type	Select the database sta	te after restor ut unavailabl	e completes e for restoring addition	al transaction logs				
3 Pre Ops	Non-operation	al, but availa	ble for restoring addition	onal transaction logs				
4 Post Ops	○ Read-only mod	le, and availa	ble for restoring additi	onal transaction logs	0			
5 Notification	Undo file directory drive:\folder							
6 Summary	Specify optional scripts to run after performing a restore job							
	Script full path	sql-vm3-p	ost-restore.ps1					
	Script arguments	\$Database	× \$ServerInstance ×	\$TargetDatabase ×	\$LogDirectory ×	\$BackupName x		
						Previous	Next	

8. Enter notification email details for the restore job.

Restore			×
Restore scope	Provide email sett	ings 🚯	
2 Recovery Type	Email preference	On failure or warning or canceled 🔹	
3 Pre Ops	From	snapcenter@nx-flexpod.cisco.com jogeorg2@cisco.com	
4 Post Ops	Subject	SnapCenter - Restore failure or warning or cancellation notification	
5 Notification	🖌 Attach Job Report		
6 Summary			
			Previous Next

Figure 90 Restore Job Notification Setting

9. Review the Summary of restore task and click Finish.

Figure 91 Restore Task Summary

Restore			x
1 Restore scope	Summary		
2 Recovery Type	Backup name	tpcc-all_sql-vm3_Daily_06-18-2020_02.30.08.8276	
Bra Opr	Backup type	Full backup	
B Pre Ops	Backup date	06/18/2020 2:30:06 AM	
4 Post Ops	Restore type	In Place	
-	Restore logs	None	
5 Notification	Send email	Yes	
		5	Previous Finish

10. Go to the Monitor tab, click Job and enter restore in filter to see job status of restore operation. See details or download the log if needed.

	SnapCenter®				•		8-	👤 flexpod	.cisco.com\flexac	min SnapC	enterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
<		Jobs	Schedules	Events Logs						_		
	Dashboard	restor	e	7					1 Details	Report	Download Logs	Cancel Job
	Resources	All Jobs	s									
0	Monitor	ID	Status	Name			Start d	ate		End date	Owner	
<i>î</i> îÎ	Reports	1079	4	Restore 'sql-vm3\tpcc'	06/20/2	2020 6:3	5:44 PM	8	06/20/2020 6:	87:38 PM 🛱	flexpod\fl	lexadmin
Å	Hosts											
ł	Storage Systems											
=	Settings											
▲	Alerts	Tatal 1										N
		rotal i										5

Figure 92 Monitor restore job

Verify SQL Database Cloning from Backup

The section describes the steps for cloning SQL database from backup using NetApp SnapCenter.

Before proceeding, ensure that the backup of SQL databases Resource group has been created using SnapCenter.

To create a clone of a database from the backup, follow these steps:

1. Launch SnapCenter Web UI. Select Resources view. Click a resource view and click a resource group name.

Figure 93	Resources	view	

Sr	napCe	nter®		٠			1 flexpod.cisco.co	om\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
> ^	Micro	soft SQL Server 💌	tpcc1234Details							×
	sea	rch by name	search	-	2	P	٩	G	÷.	
0	M	Name	Modify Resource Group	Backu	p Now	Cione Lifecy	cle Maintenance	Edit/View Details	Delete	
		tpcc-all	Resource Name		Туре		Host			
-		tpcc1234	tpcc (sql-vm1)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm1.flexp	od.cisco.com		
í í í			tpcc (sql-vm2)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm2.flexp	od.cisco.com		
A			tpcc (sql-vm3)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm3.flexp	od.cisco.com		
	Total	2	tpcc (sql-vm4)		SQL D	atabase	sql-vm4.flexp	od.cisco.com		
Activit	у	The 5 most recent jobs are displayed			e e	5 Comple 0 Cancele	ted 🍐 0 Wai ed 💿 0 Runn	rnings X ning 🇐 0 (0 Failed Queued	► ^

2. Click the name of a database resource to clone from a backup.

Figure 94 Resources View

Sr	apCenter®		• =	0	flexpod.cisco.co	om\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
>	Microsoft SQL Server 💌	tpcc1234Details						×
	search by name	search		F	4	6	a	
U	Name	Modify Resource Group	Back up Now	Clone Lifecy	de Maintenance	Edit/View Details	Delete	
	tpcc-all	Resource Name	Туре		Host			
•	tpcc1234	tpcc (sql-vm1)	SQL D)atabase	sql-vm1.flexp	od.cisco.com		
Ш		tpcc (sql-vm2)	SQL D	atabase	sql-vm2.flexp	od.cisco.com		
A		tpcc (ssl-vm3)	SQL D)atabase	sql-vm3.flexp	od.cisco.com		
54		tpcc (sql-vm4)	SQL C	atabase)	sql-vm4.flexp	od.cisco.com		
#								
	Total 2							
Activit	The 5 most recent jobs are Y displayed		6	5 Complet 0 Cancele	ted 🍐 0 Wai ed 💿 0 Runn	rnings X ing 🧿 0 (0 Failed Queued	^

3. The list of backups for the selected database is displayed. Select the backup to clone the database from, and click Clone.

Figure 95 Select the Backup to Clone Database

Sn Sn	apCenter®			• •	0- J	flexpod.cisco.co	om\flexadmin	SnapCenterAdmin	🖡 Sign Out
>		tpcc1234Details	tpcc (sql-vm3) Topolog	3y					×
		search				Clon	e Lifecyde	Protect Details	Refresh
•		Resource Name	Manage Copies			4			
		tpcc (sql-vm1)						C	-
~		tpcc (sql-vm2)		lones				Summary Ca	ira
ani		tpcc (sql-vm3)		liones				1 Backup	
A.		tpcc (sql-vm4)	Local cop	nes				U Clones	
ł۹.,									
÷			Primary Backup(s)					
▲			search	7				Rename Clo	Restore Delete
			Backup Name		Count	Туре	1F	End Date	Verified
			tpcc1234_full-log-daily ql-vm3_06-22-2020_22 25	rtp-ds_s 2.38.39.37	1	Full backup	06/22/2	2020 10:38:42 PM 📋	Ø Verified
	<		Total 1						>
Activity	/ The 5 most	recent jobs are displayed 🛛 🔗 0 Co	mpleted 🔺 🔺 4 Warn	ings X	1 Failed	🙆 0 Canceled	0 Rur	nning 🧐 0 Queue	d ^

4. Enter clone server, SQL instance, and clone name. Select the option for Windows mountpoint to mount database at.

Clone from back	up				×
1 Clone Options	Clone settings				
2 Logs	Clone server	sql-vm11.flexpod.cisco.com	m 🔻	0	
3 Script	Clone instance	sql-vm11	•	0	
4 Notification	Clone name	sql-vm3-tpcc-clone-06-22	×		
5 Summary	Choose mount o	otion			
	Auto assign mo	ount point 🚯			
	 Auto assign vol 	ume mount point under path	full file path	0	
					Previous

Figure 96 Enter Database Clone Settings

5. Chose log options.

Figure 97 Select Database Clone Log Option

Clone from bac	kup			×
1 Clone Options	Choose logs			
2 Logs	 All log backups 			
3 Script	O By log backups until	6/22/2020 7:38:44 PM	v	
4 Notification	By specific date until	06/22/2020 7:38:43 PM	1	
5 Summary	⊖ None			
				Previous Next

6. Specify the optional pre and post scripts to run before and after clone operation.

		pre-cione.ps1
Script	Prescript arguments	SDatabase × ServerInstance ×
script	Postscript full path	post-clone.ps1
Notification	Postscript	SDatabase × ServerInstance × SBackupName × SLogDirectory × STargetDatabase ×
Summary	arguments	\$TargetServerInstance ×
	Script timeout	60 secs

Figure 98 Enter Optional Pre-Clone And Post-Clone Script Names

7. Enter the notification email settings for the clone operation notifications.

Figure 99 Notification Email Settings

Clone from bac	kup		×
1 Clone Options	Provide email set	ttings 🕕	
2 Logs	Email preference	On failure or warning or canceled 👻	_
3 Script	From	snapcenter@nx-flexpod.cisco.com	-
4 Notification	Subject	Jogeorg2@cisco.com SnapCenter - Clone failure or warning or cancellation notification	1
5 Summary	😧 Attach Job Report	r.	
		Previous	Next

8. Review the Summary of the clone operation to be triggered.

Figure 100 Clone Operation Summary Before Starting the Cloning

Clone from back	kup		×
1 Clone Options	Summary		
2 Logs	Clone server	sql-vm11.flexpod.cisco.com	
0	Clone instance	sql-vm11	
Script	Clone name	sql-vm3-tpcc-clone-06-22	
4 Notification	Mount option	Auto Mount	
<u> </u>	Prescript full path	None	
5 Summary	Prescript arguments	None	
	Postscript full path	None	
	Postscript arguments	None	
	Send email	Yes	
			Previous Finish

9. Go to Monitor view, click Jobs, and the monitor status of the clone job.

Figure 101 Monitor Clone Job Progress

	SnapCenter®				٠			👤 flexpo	od.cisco.com\flexadmin	SnapCo	enterAdmin	🗊 Sign Out	
< 	Dashboard	Jobs search	Schedules by name	Events Logs					D etails	Report	Downlaad Logs	Gancel Job	
V	Resources	All Jobs	5										
0	Monitor	ID			Start	late	En	nd date Owner					
íĭí	Reports	1219	~	Clone from backup 'tpcc1234_full-log-daily_rtp-	06/22/2	06/22/2020 10:59:22 PM 🛱 06/22/2020 10:59		06/22/2020 10:59:42	РМ 🛱	'M 🛱 flexpod\flexadmin		^	
A	Hosts			ds_sql-vm3_06-22- 2020_22.38.39.3725'									
ł	Storage Systems	1218	~	Discover resources for host 'sql- vm2.flexpod.cisco.com'	06/22/2	020 10	:42:26 PN		06/22/2020 10:42:28	РМ 🛱	flexpod\fl	exadmin	
	Settings	1217	~	Create Provision 'J' on host 'sql- vm2.flexpod.cisco.com'	06/22/2	020 10	:42:19 PN	6	06/22/2020 10:42:26	PM 🛱	flexpod\fl	exadmin	
A	Alerts	1211	*	Backup of Resource Group 'tpcc1234' with policy 'full-log- daily'	06/22/2	020 10	:38:39 PN	. 8	06/22/2020 10:54:24	PM 🛱	flexpod\fl	exadmin	~
		Total 936	5										

Solution Performance Testing and Validation

This section describes the solution tests conducted to validate the robustness of the solution. <u>Table 11</u> lists the complete details of the testbed setup used for conducting various performance tests discussed in the following sections.

	Table 11	Hardware and	Software	Details of	Testbed	Configuration
--	----------	--------------	----------	------------	---------	---------------

Component	Device Details
Compute	1x Cisco UCS 5108 blade chassis with 2x Cisco UCS 2408 IO Modules
	4x Cisco UCS B200 M5 blades each with one Cisco UCS 1440 VIC adapter
Processor Cores per B200 M5 blade	2x Intel® Xeon® Gold 6248 CPUs, 2.5GHz, 27.5MB L3 cache, 20 Cores per CPU
Memory per B200 M5 blade	384GB (12x 32GB DIMMS operating at 2933MHz)
Fabric Interconnects	2x Cisco UCS 4 th Gen 6454
	Cisco UCS Manager Firmware: 4.1(1C)
Network Switches	2x Cisco Nexus 9336C-FX2 switches
Storage Controllers	2x NetApp AFF A400 storage controllers with 24 x 1.8TB NVMe SSDs
Hypervisor	VMWare vSphere 6.7 Update 3
Guest Operating System	Windows 2019 Standard Edition
Database software	SQL Server 2019 Evaluation Edition

Performance Test Methodology and Results

The FlexPod system is architected from the ground up to offer greater flexibility, scalability, and resiliency to cater to various high-performance and low latency demanding enterprise workloads such as databases, ERP, CRM and BI system, and so on.

In this reference architecture, the FlexPod system is tested and validated with Microsoft SQL Server databases for OLTP (Online Transaction Processing) workloads. Typically, the OLTP workloads are compute-intensive and characterized by a large number of parallel random reads and writes. The FlexPod system, which is built with the combination of Cisco UCS B200 M5 blade servers powered by the latest Intel 2nd Generation scalable processors, 25/100G Fabric Interconnects, and Cisco Nexus switches and NetApp All Flash storage, enable customers to seamlessly consolidate and run many SQL Server databases instances.

This reference architecture demonstrates three aspects of the FlexPod system by hosting multiple SQL server OLTP-like workloads. The following list provides the tests conducted on the FlexPod system:

• Demonstrate database performance scalability for both scale-up and scale-out scenarios using a single Cisco UCS B200 M5 blade server and multiple Cisco UCS B200 M5 blade servers for a 100G database.

- Demonstrate maximum IO capacity of the NetApp AFF A400 storage array.
- Demonstrate NetApp storage snapshots for data protection and quick recovery of databases.

The HammerDB tool is used to simulate an OLTP-like workload at 70:30 read: write ratio on each SQL Server database VM running on the FlexPod system. This tool is installed on a separate client machine and multiple instances of the tool can be started to simulate OLTP like workload on multiple SQL Server virtual machines running on the FlexPod system. At the end of each test, the tool reports the database performance metrics. The performance of each SQL VM is measured using 'Transactions Per Minute (TPM)' reported by the tool.

Database Performance Scalability within Single Cisco UCS B200 M5 ESXi Host

The objective of this test is to demonstrate how a single Cisco UCS B200 M5 host can respond as more SQL workload VMs are added to the host.

<u>Table 12</u> lists the virtual machine configuration and database schema details used for this test. Each virtual machine is configured with 8 vCPUs and 12GB memory. Each SQL VM is stressed at about 65-70 percent of the guest CPU utilization, generating about 23,000 to 25,000 total IO operations at 70:30 read: write ratio.

Component	Device Details
VM Configuration	8 vCPUs, 12GB Memory (9GB allocated for SQL)
Storage Volumes for database	1 x 400G LUN for Data files
	1 x 150GB LUN for T-LOG file
Database	SQL Server 2019 Evaluation Edition
Operating System	Windows 2019 Standard Edition
Workload per VM	Database Size: 100GB
	Targeted total IOPS: 23000 to 25000
	Read: Write Ratio: 70:30%
	Guest CPU utilization: ~65-70%
	Performance Metrics collected:
	Transactions Per Second (TPM/60)
	Windows Perfmon IO metrics
	ESXi ESXTOP metrics

Table 12 Virtual Machine Configuration Used for Single Cisco UCS B200 Scalability Test

The graph below shows how multiple SQL Server virtual machines perform on a single ESXi host. As shown, a single SQL virtual machine delivered about 8900 Transactions Per Second (TPS). As more SQL virtual machines are added to the same host (up to 4 VMs), the TPS scaled linearly as there are no bottlenecks discovered within the Cisco UCS B200 M5 host as well as NetApp AFF400 storage. With a single SQL virtual machine workload, about 20 percent of ESXi host CPU utilization is noticed. As more virtual machines are added to the host, CPU utilization of the underlying Cisco UCS B200 M5 host is also scaled linearly as shown in below:





The graph below shows the disk data transfers (IOPS) and latency details for this test. The performance numbers are captured using Windows Perfmon tool at Guest OS level. As shown, a single SQL virtual machine delivered about 24900 IO operations per second (IOPS). As more SQL virtual machines are added to the same host, the IOPS scaled linearly. The write latencies (captured at guest perfmon) stayed within 2 milliseconds.



Figure 103 IOPS Scalability with Single Cisco UCS B200 M5 ESXi Host

Database Performance Scalability Across the 4x Node ESXi Cluster

The objective of this test is to demonstrate the database performance scalability when multiple SQL VMs are deployed across a four-node ESXi cluster, which is typically seen in real-world implementations.

For this multi-hosts ESXi testing, the same virtual machine configuration and database schema is used in the single ESXi Host testing.

As shown below, a single SQL virtual machine delivered about 8900 Transactions Per Second (TPS). As more SQL virtual machines are added to the cluster (up to 8 VMs), the TPS is scaled linearly as there are no bottlenecks discovered both at compute and storage levels. With a single SQL virtual machine workload, about 20 percent ESXi host CPU utilization is noticed. As more virtual machines are added across the ESXi cluster, CPU utilization of the cluster also scaled near-linearly as shown below:



Figure 104 Database Performance Scalability Across ESXi Cluster

The graph below shows the disk data transfers (IOPS) and latency details for this test. As shown, a single SQL virtual machine delivered about 25000 IO operations per second (IOPS). As more SQL virtual machines are added to the cluster (up to 8 VMs), the IOPS scaled near-linearly. The write latencies (captured at guest perfmon) stayed within 3 milliseconds.





With eight VMs tested across the cluster, NetApp AFF 400 delivered about 180K IOPS with the storage controller's CPU utilization at about 70 percent. These values indicate that the storage system has not reached the maximum performance threshold and could support additional workloads.

Maximum IO Capacity Testing of NetApp AFF400 Storage Array

The goal of this test is to demonstrate the maximum storage performance that the NetApp AFF 400 storage can deliver for SQL Server database OLTP workloads.

During the performance scalability tests described in the previous sections, the storage subsystem was not stressed to its maximum levels. To test and achieve the maximum storage performance, SQL virtual machines are configured with higher resources to support more database users thereby driving more IOPS. <u>Table 13</u> lists the VM configuration used for this test.

Component	Device Details
VM Configuration	12 vCPUs, 16GB Memory (10GB allocated for SQL)
Storage Volumes for database	1 x 400G LUN for Data files
	1 x 150GB LUN for T-LOG file
Database	SQL Server 2019 Evaluation Edition
Operating System	Windows 2019 Standard Edition
Workload per VM	Database Size: 100GB
	Number of Users per VM: 45
	Targeted total IOPS: 25000 to 28000
	Read: Write Ratio: 70:30%
	Guest CPU utilization: ~65-70%
	Performance Metrics collected: NetApp Active IQ Manager

					-		_
Table 13 Virt	ual Machine C	contiguration for	NetApp AH	- 400 Maximum	Storage I	Performance	Test

For this test, eight SQL virtual machines are configured and deployed across the four node ESXi cluster. SQL Server databases are stressed using the HammerDB instances running on a separate client machine. The following two graphs show the storage metrics collected using NetApp Active IQ manager during the test. Each SQL virtual machines is stressed up to its 65-70 percent CPU utilization using 45 HammerDB users each contributing 25K to 28K IOPS with 70:30 read write ratio resulted in a total of 230,000 total IOPS at 1.2 ms latency as shown below:



Figure 106 NetApp AFF 400 Storage System Maximum IOPS Test with 70:30 Read Write Ratio

As shown below, the Storage system CPU averaged over 95 percent, indicating that the storage system is at or near its maximum performance capability. While the system could support additional workload that would drive CPU utilization even higher, NetApp recommends that storage systems operate below 80 percent utilization during normal operations to prevent significant performance impact during a controller failure scenario.



Figure 107 Storage System Average CPU Utilization during Maximum IOPS Test

SQL Server Database Workload Monitoring with Cisco Workload Manager (CWOM)

Cisco Workload Optimization Manager is a real-time decision engine that drives continuous health in the IT environment. Its intelligent software constantly analyzes workload consumption, costs, and compliance constraints. It assures application performance by giving workloads the resources they need, when they need them. CWOM provides specific real-time actions that ensure workloads get the resources they need for:

• Placement

- Scaling
- Capacity

Customers can automate the software's decisions to match their level of comfort:

- Recommended (view only)
- Manual (select and apply)
- Automated (executed in real-time by software)

The remainder of this section focuses on leveraging on-prem CWOM virtual appliance capabilities to monitor SQL Server databases.

CWOM virtual appliance can be downloaded from the Cisco download center site: https://software.cisco.com/download/home/286321574/type/286317011/

For details on deploying CWOM as virtual appliance, refer to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/ucs-workload-optimization-mgr/installation-guide/2-3/cisco-ucs-wom-install-2-3.pdf</u>

A target is a service in a datacenter that can be monitored with CWOM. Currently, wide variety of targets or services can be monitored using CWOM. For details on supported targets and how to configure them, including SQL Server database targets, refer to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/ucs-workload-optimization-mgr/target-configuration/2-3/cisco-ucs-wom-target-config-2-3-13.pdf</u>.

In this CVD, CWOM is leveraged to monitor SQL Server virtual machines running on the FlexPod system. In order to get end-to-end visibility of all the layers of the application stack, required targets like vCenter, Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects, the NetApp Storage array and SQL Server targets need to be added to the CWOM. All the required targets are added for complete visibility of the FlexPod system, as shown below:

Figure 108 Adding FlexPod Targets to CWOM

າມາມາ cisco	ALL SETTINGS / TARGET CONFIGURATIONS Target Configurations Shows all targets in your infrastructure		
	All Targets	O Sourch	🖛 EII TER
	Hypervisor - 1	4 Targets	- 101X
PLACE	Fabric - 1	FlexPodSQl2019-VMs SQLServer	VALIDATED: JUN 15, 2020 12:29 >
¢	Database - 1	192.168.156.20 Cisco UCS Manager	VALIDATED: JUN 15, 2020 2:57: >
DASHBOARD		192.168.156.40 NetApp	VALIDATED: JUN 3, 2020 12:54: >
		10.1.156.100 vCenter	VALIDATED: JUN 3, 2020 12:54: >

The following figure shows adding a SQL Server target to CWOM. You need to have a SQL Server login account for CWOM to get inventory and utilization data of SQL Server database. In our example below, the SQL Server login "cwom" is used. Ensure the SQL Server login account that CWOM uses has the appropriate rights to the SQL Server databases. "Scope" here indicates the vCenter cluster name of a group of virtual machines running SQL Server databases.

Figure 109 Other CWOM Targets

TARGET NAME *		
FlexPodSQL20	19-VMs	
USERNAME *		
cwom		
PASSWORD *		
•••••		
SCOPE *		
VMs_FlexPod-D	C\SQL	
Select Scope		
BROWSING SERVICE PO	RT	
0		
SQLSERVER PORT		
1433		
AD DOMAIN		
FULL VALIDATION		

Once the required targets are added to the CWOM, it will contact each target, develop the dependency graph and get the complete inventory, configuration and resource utilization data and provides suggestions using its intelligent recommendation engine.

The complete inventory details of the FlexPod system is shown below. You can click each item and get complete visibility of all the dependent layers.



Figure 110 CWOM Dashboard

COWM provides a wide variety of recommendations for workloads placement and sizing for optimal SQL Server database performance and efficient infrastructure utilization for on-prem, hybrid and cloud based SQL instances. However, in this document the following SQL Server database specific use cases are discussed.

- CWOM recommendations for underutilized SQL Server databases.
- CWOM recommendations for over-utilized SQL Server database Virtual Machines.

CWOM Recommendations for Underutilized SQL Server Database Virtual Machines

The goal of this test case is to demonstrate what CWOM would recommend when the SQL Server virtual machines resources are underutilized.

For this use case, the following SQL virtual machine configuration is used.

Table 14 SQL Server Virtual Machine Configuration for Underutilized SQL VM

Component	Configuration Details	

Component	Configuration Details
VM Configuration	12 vCPUs, 64GB Memory (60GB allocated for SQL)
Storage Volumes for database	1 x 400G LUN for Data files 1 x 150GB LUN for T-LOG file
Database	SQL Server 2019 Evaluation Edition
Operating System	Windows 2019 Standard Edition
Workload	Tool: HammerDB
	Database Size: 100GB
	Working Set: 10%
	Users: 5

The HammerDB tool is used to simulate an OLTP-like workload with 5 users and accessing only 10 percent of the database which does not required to consume all the memory allocated to the SQL instance which will lead to 100 percent cache hit ratio. This is evident that the actual buffer pool usage is observed to be around 34 percent and the remaining allotted memory is unutilized.

In this scenario, CWOM recommends to reduce the memory allocation to the SQL virtual machine, thereby saving the resources which can be made available for other workloads.



Figure 111 CWOM Recommendation for Underutilized SQL Virtual Machines

CWOM Recommendations for Overutilized SQL Server Database Virtual Machines

The goal of this use case is to demonstrate what CWOM would recommend if a SQL Server virtual machine is overutilized?

For this use case, the following SQL virtual machine configuration is used.

Component	Configuration Details
VM Configuration	2 vCPUs, 6GB Memory (4GB allocated for SQL)
Storage Volumes for database	1 x 400G LUN for Data files 1 x 150GB LUN for T-LOG file
Database	SQL Server 2019 Evaluation Edition
Operating System	Windows 2019 Standard Edition
Workload	Tool: HammerDB Database Size: 100GB Working Set: 100% Users: 30

Table	15	SOL	Server	Virtual	Machine	Configuration	for	Underutilized	SOL	VМ
Table	10	JQL	001001	viituai	Machine	Configuration	101	onderutinzee	JQL	V I V I

HammerDB tool is used to simulate an OLTP-like workload with 30 users and accessing entire database. Since there is only 4GB available to the SQL Server buffer pool, SQL Server cannot cache the entire data set in it and resulting in accessing new pages from the disk. Therefore, the buffer pool usage is pecked at 100 percent and also driving CPU consumption over 80 percent consistently.

In this scenario, CWOM recommends allocating more memory and CPU resources to the virtual machine as shown below:

Figure 112 CWOM Recommendation for Overutilized SQL Virtual Machines

HOME / FLEXPOD-DC / FLEXPOD-DC/SQL DB Server® SQLServer[SQL-VM1	3 Pen	ding Actions		
Database Server	Q Sea	arch		bownload -
		Scale up VMem for Virtual Machine SQL-VM1 from 6 GB to 8 GB VMem congestion in Virtual Machine 'SQL-VM1'	EST. INVESTMENT: \$100	PERFORMANCE
Virtual Data Cente		Scale up VCPU for Virtual Machine SQL-VM1 from 2 to 4 VCPU congestion in Virtual Machine 'SQL-VM1'	EST. INVESTMENT: \$400	PERFORMANCE
		Move Virtual Machine SQL-VM1 from sql-esxi-1.flexpod.cisco.com to sql-esxi-3.flexpod.cisco.com 'sql-esxi-1.flexpod.cisco.com' can be suspended for efficiency		EFFICIENCY

Infrastructure Monitoring with Cisco Intersight

Cisco Intersight[™] is a management platform delivered as a service with embedded analytics for your Cisco and 3rd party IT infrastructure. This platform offers an intelligent level of management that enables IT organizations to analyze, simplify, and automate their environments in more advanced ways than the prior generations of tools. Cisco Intersight provides an integrated and intuitive single pane of management experience for resources in the traditional datacenter and at the edge. With flexible deployment options to address complex security needs, getting started with Cisco Intersight is quick and easy.

For more information about Cisco Intersight, refer to: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/support/servers-unified-computing/intersight/series.html</u>

<u>Figure 113</u> shows the server inventory. You can click an individual item and get the server inventory details. Cisco Intersight continuously monitors and provides each component's health status and can share the technical support details to the Cisco TAC support automatically as a proactive measure.

≡	cisco Intersight	Servers	\$				·	Q 🛛 1	13 🔺 5 🛛 🖓	₽ 4 C	¢ ©	0		
<u>00o</u>	Dashboards	• Warning 4		○ On 15 ○ Off 3 ○ Incomplete 3 ○ Validated 15		alidated 15	• B200 M5 8		Not Covered 18					
	Servers		18	Healthy 14				18 • C220 M5_ 6 • C125 4						
	Chassis													
8	HyperFlex Clusters	🧷 🔍 Search 🛛 🔂									25 🗸 per page		of 1 ⊃ ∋	
₽.	Fabric Interconnects		Name		Health 🗘	Contract Status	Manage ≑	Model 0	CPU Capacit 🛈 🔅		UCS Domain		Firmware 🗘	
8	Storage				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSC-C220-M5SN	73.6	384.0			4.1(1f)	
	Virtualization				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	73.6	384.0			4.1(31d)	
6	Profiles				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	73.6	384.0			4.1(31d)	
1	Policies				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	44.0	192.0		org-root/c	4.1(31d)	
~	Orchestration				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	44.0	192.0		org-root/c	4.1(31d)	
Ð	Solutions				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	100.0	1408.0		org-root	Launch UCS Mana	iger
ē	Administration				Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	100.0	1408.0		org-root	Launch vKVM	
					Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	100.0	896.0		org-root	Open TAC Case	
					Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSB-B200-M5	100.0	896.0		org-root	Set License Tier	
					Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSC-C125	16.8	64.0		org-root/c	4.1(1f)	
					Healthy		192.168.156.20	UCSC-C220-M5SN	73.6	384.0		org-root/c	4.1(1f)	
					▲ Warning		192.168.156.20	UCSC-C220-M5SN	73.6	384.0		org-root/c	4.1(1f)	

Figure 113 Cisco Intersight Showing Server Inventory

Cisco Intersight can validate Operating System/Hypervisor versions, hardware firmware and driver versions against the Cisco supported versions for each platform and provides recommendation if there are any non-compliance issues. You can quickly review the recommendations and take the necessary actions to make them compliant. <u>Figure 114</u> shows the Cisco UCS B200 M5 is validated and verified against the Cisco Hardware Compatibility List (HCL).



Figure 114 Intersight Validating Cisco UCS B200 M5 Hardware Compatibility
Summary

FlexPod is the optimal shared infrastructure foundation to deploy a variety of IT workloads. It is built on leading computing, networking, storage, and infrastructure software components. This CVD is a detailed guide for Microsoft SQL Server 2019 deployment on Windows Server 2019 virtual machines that are deployed in VMware virtual environments.

FlexPod provides a highly efficient data lifecycle management and exceptional storage efficiency for SQL databases and logs.

The performance tests detailed in this document prove the robustness of the solution to host IO sensitive applications such as Microsoft SQL Server for database consolidation and/or peak storage IO use cases.

References

FlexPod Datacenter with NetApp ONTAP 9.7, Cisco Intersight, and VMware vSphere 6.7 U3:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/UCS_CVDs/fp_dc_ontap_97_ucs_4_vmw_vs_67_U3.html#_Toc41630225

Cisco UCS VIC Tuning Guide:

https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/products/collateral/interfaces-modules/unified-computing-systemadapters/vic-tuning-wp.pdf

Achieve Optimal Network Throughput on the Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card 1457:

https://www.cisco.com/c/dam/en/us/products/collateral/interfaces-modules/unified-computing-systemadapters/whitepaper-c11-741550.pdf

Cisco Workload Optimization Manager:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/servers-unified-computing/workload-optimization-manager/index.html

About the Authors

Gopu Narasimha Reddy, Technical Marketing Engineer, Compute Systems Product Group, Cisco Systems, Inc.

Gopu Narasimha Reddy is a Technical Marketing Engineer in the Cisco UCS Datacenter Solutions group. Currently, he is focusing on developing, testing and validating solutions on the Cisco UCS platform for Microsoft SQL Server databases on Microsoft Windows and VMware platforms. He is also involved in publishing TPC-H database benchmarks on Cisco UCS servers. His areas of interest include building and validating reference architectures, development of sizing tools in addition to assisting customers in SQL deployments.

Sanjeev Naldurgkar, Technical Marketing Engineer, Compute Systems Product Group, Cisco Systems, Inc.

Sanjeev has been with Cisco for eight years focusing on delivering customer-driven solutions on Microsoft Hyper-V and VMware vSphere. He has over 18 years of experience in the IT Infrastructure, server virtualization, and cloud computing. He holds a bachelor's degree in Electronics and Communications Engineering and leading industry certifications from Microsoft and VMware.

Atul Bhalodia, Sr. Solutions Architect, NetApp Cloud Infrastructure Engineering, NetApp

Atul Bhalodia is a Sr. Solutions Architect with NetApp Cloud Infrastructure Engineering team. He focuses on the Architecture, Deployment, Validation, and documentation of NetApp datacenter and cloud infrastructure solutions. Prior to his current role, he was a Software Development Lead for NetApp SnapDrive and SnapManager Products. Atul has worked in the IT industry for more than 20 years and he holds master's degree in Computer Engineering from California State University, San Jose, CA.

Acknowledgements

For their support and contribution to the design, validation, and creation of this Cisco Validated Design, the authors would like to thank:

- John George, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- John McAbel, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Babu Mahadevan, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- AJ Nish, Turbonomic, Inc.